AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE RELATIONSHIP

BETWEEN MATHEMATICAL ABILITY AND

MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT

OF

STANDARD SEVEN CHILDREN

OF

KENYA

BY

RAPHAEL JACOB ACHOLLA KAPIYO

UNIVERSITY OF NAIRON

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT

FOR THE

DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS (EDUCATION)

IN THE

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

DECLARATION

"This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University".

RAPHAEL JACOB ACHOLLA KAPIYO

"The thesis has been submitted for examination with my approval as a University Supervisor".

Solisai

DR. S. DESAI LECTURER DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY KENYATTA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE NAIROBI.

1982.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated with alot of respect and appreciation to my parents MR. CORNEL APIYO IMBO AND MRS BIRGITTA DIANG'A APIYO whose efforts to educate me have resulted in this work.

the second second in part last of the last second second

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To start and bring this thesis to a completion involved the help and patience of many people and the institution in various ways.

My greatest appreciation goes to Dr. S. Desai who was my supervisor and inspiring friend. Alot of thanks also goes to Miss S. Bali, Associate Professor George S. Eshiwani and Dr. J. S. Maranga for their sincere assistance with the work.

I am most grateful to Kenyatta University College for the Postgraduate Scholarship award and research grant.

Thanks to the Municipal Education Officer and District Basic Education Officer Kisumu, the Headmasters, Headmistresses, teachers and pupils of the schools visited during the research period for whatever parts they played in this study.

I would like to express my gratitude to my postgraduate colleagues in the University in general and in particular those in the Department of Educational Psychology for their moral support and assistance in various ways. Thanks to Grace W. Ragoi for her keennes and diligence in typing the thesis and Mr. A. Dwalo Bojana for reading through the work.

Lastly my heartiest thanks go to my wife Jacintha Anyango and my daughters Maurine Akinyi and Linda Amondi for enduring in a most understanding manner with the conditions of life during the course.

.

and the second s

CONTENTS

	PAGE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	(tvi)
LIST OF TABLES:	((±x)
ABSTRACT:	(i 1)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1.	The Research Problem:	1
1.2.	Research Questions:	7
1.3.	Important Variables in the Study:	8
1.4.	Significance of the Choice of Variables:	9
1.5.	Significance of the Study:	10

CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1.	Introduction:	12
2.2.	Mathematical Ability	12
2.3.	Relationship Between Ability and Achievement in Mathematics:	23
2.4.	Mathematical Achievement and Language:	33
2.5.	Mathematical Achievement and Sex of Pupil:	38
2.5.1.	Sex Differences-Psychoanalytic Viewpoint:	45
2.5.2.	Sex Differences and Attitude Toward Mathematics:	50
2.6.	Hypotheses:	57
2.7.	Basic Assumption:	60

(ivi)

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS AND INSTRUMENTS

3.1.	Introduction:	61
3.2.	The Sample:	61
3.2.1.	Selection of Subjects:	67
3.3.	Variables Selected for the Study:	68
3.3.1.	Mathematical Achievement:	69
3.3.2.	Mathematical Ability:	70
3.3.3.	Mathematical Vocabulary:	72
3.3.4.	English Language Proficiency:	72
3.4.	Data Collection and Instruments:	74
3.4.1.	Test Administration:	74
3.4.2.	Scoring of Test:	76
3.4.3.	Analysis of Data:	76

.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1.	Introduction:	78
4.2.	Statistical Procedures:	78
4.3.	Results and Interpretation:	79
4.3.1.	Relationship between Achievement and Ability in Mathematics and Language Factors:	79
4.3.2.	Relationship between Type of Schools and Test Performance:	83
4.3.3.	Relationship between Sex. of Pupil and Test Performance:	99

4.3.4.	Factors Responsible for the Variation	
	in Mathematical Achievement:	103
4.3.5.	Summary of Findings:	106
4.4.	Discussion:	108

CHAPTER FIVE: LIMITATIONS, IMPLICATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1.	Limitations of the Study:	127
5.2.	Implications of the Study:	128
5.3.	Recommendations:	129
5.3.1.	Improvement of Learning Facilities and Environment in Medium and Low Cost Schools:	130
5.3.2.	Mathematical Vocabulary:	130
5.3.3.	Special Emphasis on Development of Spatial Ability:	131
5.4.	Directions for Future Research:	132
5.5.	Conclusion:	134

APPENDICES:.	•	•		•	•	•	+	•	•	 •	•	•	٠	•		•	•				1	37	
REFERENCES :		•	•	•		۰.					•				•			,			18	38	

17

ĥ

((11))

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	TITLE	PAGE
1.1.	Mean and Standard Deviation of Performance in C.P.E. 1978 and 1980 Mathematics Paper for Male and Female	
	Pupils (National) :	6
2.1.	Differences between Female and Male Achievement:	· 47
3.1.	Distribution of Pupils attending Low Cost, Medium Cost and High Cost Schools by their Sex, Age, Repeater, After-School Cosching in Mathematics and After-School	
	Coaching in English:	65
4.1.	Intercorrelations of Mathematical Achievement test scores with Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary and English Language Proficiency Test	
	scores for all pupils (N = 634):	81
4.2.	Mean and Standard Deviation of Mathematical Achieve- ment Test, Mathematical Ability Test, Mathematical Vocabulary and English Language Proficiency Test	
	for Low Cost, Medium Cost and High Cost Schools:	85
4.3.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Mathematical Achievement Tests	86
		00
4.4.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Arithmetic Reasoning Test:	87
4.5.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Computation Trat.	87
4.6.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Whole Number	
	Comprehension Test:	88
4.7.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Hidden Figures Test:	88
4.8.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Foarm Board Test:	89
4.9.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Five Dots Test:	89
4.10.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Problem Solving	90

TABLE	TITLE	PAGE
4.11.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Mathematical Ability Total:	90
4.12.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for Mathematical Vocabulary Test:	91
4.13.	Summary of One-Way ANOVA for English Language Proficiency Test:	91
4.14.	Mean Differences in Test Scores for Low Cost and High Cost Schools:	94
4.15.	Mean Differences in Test Scores for Medium and High Cost Schools:	95
4.16.	Mean Differences in Test Scores for Low Cost and Medium Cost Schools:	96
4.17.	Mean Differences on Mathematical Achievement Test, Mathematical Ability Test, Mathematical Vocabulary Test and English Proficiency Test for Male and Female Pupils:	101
4.18.	Summary of Step-Wise Multiple Regression Analysis on Mathematical Achievement Test:	105

(x)

A B S T R A C T

This thesis investigated the relationship between Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement in standard seven pupils of Kenya. It further investigated performance differences among pupils attending different types of schools and also between male and female pupils in mathematics.

The study was prompted by the very little research work done in this area in Kenya, and where some work was done already, the results were not conclusive. The study examined four main research questions:

- How significant is the relationship between Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Vocabulary, and Mathematical Achievement and English Language Proficiency.
- 2. Do the scores of pupils attending the Low cost, Medium cost and High cost schools differ significantly in Mathematical Achievement, Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary and English Language Proficiency tests?

- 3. Do the scores of male and female pupils differ significantly in Mathematical Achievement, Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary and English Language Proficiency tests?
- 4. Which factors account for the variation in performance on Mathematical Achievement test?

The subjects for this study consisted of a total of 634 standard seven pupils from 15 primary schools in Kenya. The schools were of three types, Low Cost, Medium Cost and High Cost, all drawn from Kisumu town within a radius of 10 kilometres, Kisumu town is in Kisumu District in Nyanza Province, Kenya. In each school, under normal classroom conditions, the selected pupils were given tests on Mathematical Achievement, Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary and English Language Proficiency. A questionnaire to provide information on pupils' age, class repetition and after-school coaching in Mathematics and English was also given to the pupils.

The results of correlation analysis revealed very strong relationship between Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Ability, implying that what the pupils achieved in Mathematica was a result of their level of ability in Mathematics. Strong correlations were also found between Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Vocabulary and between Mathematical Achievement and English Language Proficiency.

A comparison of the scores of pupils attending Low Cost, Medium Cost and High Cost primary schools by the One-Way ANOVA technique revealed statistically significant differences at $p \lt$.OOl in favour of pupils in High Cost schools.

Significant sex differences were found in Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Vocabulary in favour of male pupils but not in English Language Proficiency. This clearly showed that the female pupils have a problem in Mathematics.

Step-wise multiple regression analysis revealed that 62% of the variation in pupils' Mathematical Achievement was accounted for by their level of Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency, Sex of pupil, Class repetition, Type of school and After-school Coaching in English and Mathematics. It was concluded that differences in pupil performance in the tests reflected differences in the schools the pupils attended. Further research is therefore required to qualitatively and quantitatively determine which factors within the school environment are responsible for the differences in pupil performance.

It is therefore recommended that if the potential of our youth has to be realized fully, then equal opportunity in education must be provided for all, and the way to do this is to get the schools to be as equivalent in standard as possible.

the in the base of the internal second second

the second secon

The state of the s

and the second s

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Research Problem

The major purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement of standard seven pupils of Kenya.

The education of children is one of the most important priority areas in which the parents and the government show keen interest. Much of what the pupils learn in school is carefully planned to meet the needs of the people and this is reflected in the government's major goals (objectives). The Kenya Education System like other countries is a stage wise process. The process starts with pre-primary school stage through to Primary school stage, Secondary and High school stage then to the University. Each stage of education level takes a specified amount of time, and there is a given prescription of subject matter in the school syllabus which one is expected to cover within a given stage. In other words the pupils are expected to have mastered the required content and acquired the desired skills specified in the National Educational Objectives.

Currently and for some years back the main stages of formal education in Kenya are Pre-primary (Nursery and Kindergarten) (2 years), Primary (7 years), Secondary (4 years), and High School (2 years), and University (3 - 5 years). At the lower stages of formal education pupils are only exposed to a variety of subjects. At the secondary level, they start specializing in their favourite subjects. In Primary Education the subjects covered include English Language (Grammar and Composition), Mathematics, History and Civics, Geography, Science, Religion, Arts and Crafts and Music. At the end of the primary education, that is after seven years, all these subjects, with the exception of arts and craft, religion and music are examined through a National Examination. The National Examination is known as Certificate of Primary Education (C.P.E.). Success or failure in this Examination determines whether a pupil proceeds for Secondary Education in a Government Institution, Private or Harambee school or simply drops out if unable to join any of these.

One critical issue in the Primary Education set up in Kenya is that the Primary Schools' maintenance varies a great deal in terms of school equipment, teaching staff, etc. The range is from the very poorly maintained schools to the very well maintained High Cost Schools. Most of the poorly

maintained schools are found in the rural areas while the well maintained ones are found in the urban areas. In between there exist schools that vary in strength of maintenance. All the pupils attending these various schools are exposed to and are expected to cover the content of each subject in the primary schools syllabus. This exercise is the school's and its teachers' responsibility. By the end of primary education all the pupils take the Certificate of Primary Education (C.P.E.) Examination. Selection for secondary education is done on the basis of their performance in the C.P.E.

A careful analysis shows that when the results of pupils from all the schools are compared, a pattern emerges in the performance of pupils attending the different types of schools. Such patterns were shown in the studies of Somerset (1974) and King (1974), and observation shows that they have persisted upto today. Precisely the pattern indicates that pupils who attend the High Cost schools always on the average perform better than those who attend the Low Cost schools. The differential performance by pupils attending the different school types would imply that pupils in certain types of schools are superior intellectually to the ones in the other type of schools. Whether such a case is true or not requires investigation.

Although at the individual schools, end of term tests are taken by pupils and there is a Mock Examination just before the National Examination, the results of the end of term tests and Mock Examination are never considered for any decision making purposes at a national level. However, the disparity in pupil performance and the pattern revealed for pupils attending different school types generate concern and warrant investigation. Most important would be to determine whether what the pupils achieve in the National Examination is a reflection of their potential ability. This is in an attempt to establish whether the potential of the pupils have been realized in our Education System. An investigation of this kind would appear quite difficult since it would involve scrutinizing pupil performance in the various subjects, in an attempt to identify the nature, cause and where such differences occur. It would also involve identification of pupils' specific abilities in relation to their achievements.

To be able to carry out a study whereby pupils' achivement would be analysed in relation to pupils' ability and other related factors, mathematics as a subject was chosen because:

> It is one of the most important subjects in the Primary Schools Syllabus and one which is

tested on its own as a paper at C.P.E. Examinations.

- Mathematics is a subject where there are specific Mathematical Ability factors which determine pupils's performances in it. Such Mathematical
 Ability factors have been isolated (Werdeling, 1958; Krutetskii, 1976; Eshiwani, 1974; etc.)
 - 3. It is a subject where sharp differences in performance has consistently been registered between males and females (Maccoby, 1966; Sherman, 1974; 1978; Eshiwani, 1974; Omar Sheikh, 1976; etc.)

In this study the main concern was to determine (a) the relationship between pupils' Mathematical Ability^{*} and Mathematical Achievement^{*}, (b) performance differences among pupils (c) sex-differences in Mathematical Performance and (d) factors responsible for the variation in Mathematical Achievement.

Mathematical Ability refers to a composite of factors that is, Spatial Ability, Mathematical Reasoning Ability, Computation and Numeration Ability and Problem Solving Ability; These factors determine the level of performance in Mathematics.

Mathematical Achievement refers to the mathematical skills a pupil has developed through his/her general experience during primary education based on the primary school mathematics syllabus.

Detailed operationalization of these terms and others will be found in chapter three of this thesis.

This was in an attempt to identify the cause of the disparity in performance between pupils attending different types of schools. Though the disparity in performance of pupils attending the different types of schools have been known to exist, very little research has been done. The Kenya National Examination Council compiled results of item analysis of performance on examination questions for different categories of schools, and results on sex differences in performance. Table 1.1 below shows the performance of bpys and girls in C.P.E. 1979 and 1980 Mathematics Paper.

TABLE 1.1

MEAN AND STANDARD' DEVIATION OF PERFORMANCE IN C.P.E. 1979 AND 1980 MATHEMATICS PAPER FOR MALE AND FEMALE PUPILS (NATIONAL)*

*		1	979		1980							
	BO	YS	GIRL	.8	1	BOYS	GIRLS					
1	MEAN	S.D	MEAN	8.D	MEAN	S.D	MEAN	S.D.				
Rural	52.5	15.4	46.1	12.9	52.7	15.4	45.9	13.1				
Urban	55.8	17.1	50.5	15.8	55.9	16.8	50.1	15.8				

From the table differences are seen to exist between performance of boys and girls, and between rural and urban

The results were got official from the Kenya National Examination Council, Computer Sheets for C.P.E. 1979 and 1980 results.

pupils. The differences have been consistent over the years. Clearly the sex difference in mathematical performance and the environmental influences due to attending different school types, some located in urban and some in rural areas deserved further research. One of the influences of the environment or pupil home background on performance has to do with language used in the schools for instruction and at home. In Kenya, English Language is used as a medium of instruction in the schools though it is a second language for all the pupils. According to Vygotsky's (1962) finding that language is important for concept formation, it is clear that the language used for instruction in mathematics would influence learning and performance in mathematics. Therefore it was important to determine pupils' level of English Language Proficiency and establish its relationship with Mathematical Achievement. On the other hand mathematics has been viewed to be a specialized language (Aiken, 1972) implying it has unique vocabulary and terms. An explanation of variation in pupil Mathematical Achievement would require an understanding and established level of knowledge of Mathematical Vocabulary.

1.2 Research Questions

The study attempted to provide solution to the following questions:

- 1. How does Mathematical Ability relate to Mathematical Achievement?
- 2. Do pupils from the different types of schools differ in their Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Achievement, Mathematical Vocabulary and Proficiency in English Language?
 - 3. Do male and female pupils differ in their Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Achievement, Mathematical Vocabulary and Proficiency in English Language?
 - 4. Which factors are responsible or account for the variation in Mathematical Achievement?

1.3 Important Variables in the Study

A study of this kind is subject to very many intervening variables. Where assessment is involved it is expected that a number of factors would influence the outcome. However in this study attempt was made to control as much as possible the intervening variables.

The main variables for the study were Mathematical Achievement, Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency, Type of school and Sex of pupil. In addition to these variables, factors which could implicitly have an influence on the study such as age of the pupil, class repetition, after-school coaching in Mathematics and English were considered. The dependent variable was Mathematical Achievement while Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency, Type of school and Sex of pupil were the independent variables.

The factors within each school type, like teachers, school amenities, teaching aids, et cetra, were all considered under the variable Type of School, such that difference in the school types would account for such variation.

1.4 Significance of the Choice of Variables

All the variables mentioned above were expected to provide information regarding the performance differences among pupils attending different school types.

That was mainly because the dependent variable which was Mathematical Achievement was deemed to be significantly influenced by the independent variables.

1.5 Significance of the Study

Through its nature and purpose such a study would be expected to provide more information in the relative status of the schools. That kind of information could assist in curriculum organization and when it comes to ratifying certain important decisions on the organization of the primary schools. The applicability of the findings of such a study might not be restricted to the primary education level alone, it could be applicable to all levels of education where the situation and organization are similar to the one which provoked the study.

The fact that much importance is attached to school performance especially when it comes to selection for further education and future careers is unquestionable. This would imply that school performance is determinant of future success. This is why it is important to determine whether what a pupil achieves is a reflection of his ability. As a goal for National Development it must be ascertained that pupil potential is fully realized.

The finding by ILO (1972), that school performance bore the greatest direct relationship to occupational achievement would serve to elucidate the fact. Therefore a study focusing on factors that influence subject achievement could be viewed as one way of trying to alleviate any shortcomings within the education system and the evaluation program.

Finally the importance of medium of instruction must not be underestimated. The fact that English Language is a second language to many pupils and teachers would require that certain measures be taken if it is found to influence the teaching/learning progress.

CHAPTER TWO

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Introduction

In this chapter attempt is made to review literature that is related to the study. The main areas covered in the review include Mathematical Ability, Achievement and Ability in Mathematics, Mathematics and Language, and Mathematics and Sex. Though much of the reference was expected from Kenya or East Africa, scarcity of literature related to the study has led to reviewing more studies elsewhere.

2.2 Mathematical Ability

The review of literature on Mathematical Ability covered two major approaches of study, that is, Theoretical approach and Empirical approach. The Theoretical approach involved general definition of Mathematical Ability and what it was thought to be. The Empirical approach involved carrying out tests and analysis, mainly factor analysis, to be able to identify factors that composed Mathematical Ability. A number of researches have been done in the past on Mathematical Ability and here only a few important ones will be reviewed. From the reviews, Mathematical Ability will be defined operationally, and then important factors to Mathematical Ability identified. Tests based on the important factors which were used in the past by several researchers will be adapted for this study.

Mathematics is a subject where there is a belief that to be able to perform well one ought to have an ability in it. Like mathematics, there is a similar belief for Music and Fine Art. The view here, has been that there exist specific abilities linked with performance in certain subjects which make some people to be better than others at those subjects. Goslin (1963, p. 125) thought that ability was a hypothetical construct. He argued that,

> although we cannot really see an 'ability' or locate it in the cell structure of the brain or muscles, we can infer its presence or lack of presence in an individual from his performance. The usefulness of an ability construct stems from the fact that it makes possible the prediction of actual performances in similar but not exactly identical situations. Thus the whole notion of human abilities implies a set of responses that are buried deep within the individual the manifestation of an ability requires a situation in which that ability is appropriate.

Goslin's arguement tied quite closely with Baldwin's (1958, p. 197) statement that ability referred to;

.... that characteristic of an individual which permits him to behave adaptively, that is to cause the same result even though from time to time the circumstances vary.

While an exhaustive definition of general ability has never been found, most definitions centre on arguements similar to the ones presented above.

Performance in any given task calls for an ability specific to the task, and high or low performance will be viewed to imply high or low ability in the given task. This issue has led people to have the feeling that they are more able in some and not in other subjects. In Mathematics the feeling of being able & unable is widespread. It is not uncommon to hear a student explain his poor performance in mathematics due to not having the ability or a 'mathematical mind', a term used by a Russian psychologist, Krutetskii. Krutetskii (1969) referred to children who are gifted in mathematics as having a 'mathematical frame of mind'. According to Krutetskii such children found mathematical meanings in many aspects of reality and tended to categorize things in terms of mathematics and logic.

An earlier study by Carlton (1959) established that there were several different types of mathematical minds.

Carlton did a survey of the educational philosophies of fourteen eminent mathematicians and found from the writings of these famous men the following mathematical minds. One type of mind was said to be logical and formal, whereas another to be slow. The distinction between these types of mathematical minds was dealt with most extensively by Poincare (1952), who maintained that geometers were more intuitive, and analysts more logical in their thinking. Though the explanation did not bring out the fact clearly, right from the early days Wathematical Ability had been known to exist as a composite of factors. Operationalizing Mathematical Ability was the most difficult problem and for sometime people have struggled to provide a suitable definition.

Rogers (1918) split Mathematical Ability into two aspects, reproductive and productive. To him, the reproductive aspect was related to the function of memory while the productive aspect was related to the function of thought. Rogers however could not go beyond that.

Betz (1922) defined Mathematical Ability as the ability to have a clear awareness of the internal connections in mathematical material. His definition was quite general.

Hamley (1935) viewed Mathematical Ability as a compound of general intelligence, visual imagery, ability to perceive number and space configurations and to retain such configurations as patterns. Each of those could be subdivided into simpler components.

Although the definitions seemed to vary they were based on the skills required in solving any Mathematical task.

Blackwell (1940) carried a factorial study of Mathematical Ability and interpreted it in two forms. One form was for selective thinking in the realm of quantitative o relationships (quantitative thinking) and for deductive reasoning. The other form was the ability to apply general principles to particualr cases in the realm of numbers, symbols and geometric forms.

Meinander (1950) viewed Mathematical Ability as a complex quality including intelligence, memory, interest and volitional factors.

Revesz (1952) examined two basic forms of Mathematical Ability, applicative and productive. Applicative form referred to the ability to find mathematical relationships

quickly without preliminary trials, and to apply the appropriate information in analogous instances. Productive form referred to the ability to reveal relationships that do not follow immediately from the available information.

In the early fifties M. K. Barakat reported his factorial study of Mathematical Ability. He studied 300 pupils in four grammar schools with a variety of tests. He succeeded in deriving and identifying six factors known as, G(General), S(Spatial, N(Numerical), M(Memory) and the so called mathematical factors, which in his opinion played a definite part in mathematical thinking. He also attempted to show that the mathematical factor was the ability to manipulate mathematical schemes and relations.

Lee (1955) viewed Mathematical Ability as "ability to succeed in mathematics" and defined it as the ability to understand (grasp) the basic concepts of mathematics and to manipulate them.

Werdelin (1958, p. 13) studied Mathematical Ability through factor analysis and came up with a definition of what he called school Mathematical Ability. He defined it as the ability to understand the nature of mathematical and similar problems, symbols, methods and proofs, to learn them, to retain them in memory and to produce them;

to combine them with other problems, symbols, methods and proofs and to use them when solving mathematical (and similar) tasks.

Burt (1967, p. 126) emphasized that "Mathematical Ability has almost always been regarded as a distinct ability or gift". To him Mathematical Ability was undoubtedly a composite, with the essential constituent including an ability to form, retain and use associations between numerical or at least non-verbal symbols.

Although the definitions so far reviewed were theoretical and seemed to vary, they were based on the skills required in solving a mathematical task. From the review of literature presented it was clear that efforts were concentrated in operationalizing Mathematical Ability in an attempt to identify its main factors. The two main methods used in the researches were factor analysis and logical analysis. Aiken (1973) presented a summary of the findings of different researchers on the factors that compose Mathematical Ability. Through various factor analytic investigations the representative Mathematical Ability factors obtained were;

Deductive (general) reasoning - (Blackwell, 1940; Kline, 1960; Very, 1967; Werdelin, 1958, 1966; Wooldridge, 1964).

Inductive reasoning - (Werdelin, 1958)

Numerical ability - (Kline, 1960; Very, 1967; Wooldridge, 1964, Werdelin, 1958, 1966).

Spatial - perceptual ability - (Blackwell, 1940; Kline, 1960, Very, 1967, Werdelin, 1966).

Verbal comprehension - (Blackwell, 1940; Kline, 1960, Very, 1967; Werdelin, 1958, 1966, Wooldridge, 1964).

On the other hand based on logical analysis, Krutetskii (1966) isolated the components of Mathematical Ability. He did this through his observations and impressions of the responses of Russian school children to Mathematical problems. The basic components of Mathematical Ability he found were:

 (a) formalized perception of mathematical material,

- (b) generalization of mathematical material,
- (c) 'curtailment' of thought,
- (d) striving for economy of mental forces
- (e) flexibility of thought
- (f) mathematical memory, and
- (g) spatial concepts.

Comparing the factors and components of Mathematical Ability, only spatial ability appeared to be the common one. It would be expected that the factors and components of Mathematical Ability should mean the same thing since both were measures of Mathematical Ability. Studies to show the relationship between the factors and components of Mathematical Ability have not been done. However, the main problem would be on the measurement of the factors or the components of Mathematical Ability. Due to the subjectivity that might arise from observations and impressions, the method of assessment adopted in logical analysis, the tendency has been to use the factors rather than the components when assessing the level of Mathematical Ability.

Over the last ten or so years, further attempts to operationalize Mathematical Ability has been minimal. However, Wilson, et al. (1968) in carrying out the National Longitudinal Study of Mathematical Ability, viewed Mathematical Ability as composed of;

- (a) Mathematical Reasoning Ability
- (b) Spatial Perceptual (Visualization) Ability
- (c) Numerical (Computatational) Ability.
- (d) Problem Solving Ability.

Wilson combined inductive and deductive reasoning abilities to form Mathematical Reasoning Ability, and replaced verbal comprehension ability with problem solving ability. He also carried out his study through factor analysis and found the four factors already mentioned to compose Mathematical Ability. His group, "School Mathematics Study Group" also constructed tests based on each of the factors of Mathematical Ability and validated them. The tests have been used by Eshiwani (1974, 1980) and Wamani (1980) in studying the Mathematical Ability of School Children. These factors of Mathematical Ability have been operationalized as follows:

> (a) Mathematical Reasoning Ability was defined as the ability to discern information through some logic and abstraction and use it to process mathematical tasks. It involved the use of induction and deduction in solution to mathematical problems and the ability to process

logical propositions quickly.

The important tests for this factor were found to be, Arithmetic Reasoning Test and Five Dots Test. (Thurstone, 1938; Wilston, <u>et</u> <u>al.</u>, 1954; Hills, 1960).

(b) Spatial - Perceptual (Visualization) Abilitywas defined as the ability to perceive spatial patterns or to maintain orientation with respect to objects in space; the ability to keep one or more definite configurations in mind so as to make identification inspite of perceptual distractions. It also involved the ability to perceive objects rapidly despite confusing background, and also rapid perceptual ability was viewed as the ability to perceive, interpret or mentally rearrange objects as spatially related.

The important tests were Hidden Figures Test and Foarm Board Test (Gottschaldt, 1926; Witkin, 1950, Guilford, <u>et al.</u>, 1952; Bennett, <u>et al.</u>, 1952 Jackson, 1956; Michael, <u>et al.</u>. 1957; Gardner, <u>et al.</u>, 1960; Kagan and Moss, 1962).
c)	Numerical (Computational) Ability was defined as
	the ability to manipulate and compute with
	figures. It involved keenness and accuracy in
	handling numerical operations.
	The important tests were found to be computational
	or Numerical Operations Test and Whole Number
	Comprehension Test. The speed element was found
	to be very important in these tests (Thurstone,

1938; Michael, et. al., 1957).

(d) Problem Solving Ability - was defined as the ability to diagnose and dissect into mathematical tasks, see through their solution and solve the problem.

The important test was Problem Solving Test (Wilson, et al., 1954).

With the factors of Mathematical Ability isolated and operationalized, attempts have been made to examine the relationship between Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement. This study adopted Wilson, <u>et al.</u> (1968) factors and tests.

2.3 Relationship Between Ability and Achievement in Mathematics.

After the isolation of the Mathematical

Ability factors it was found logical by the researchers to construct tests to measure each of the factors. The scores on these factored tests could then be used to predict performance in specific mathematics courses and also assist in the planning of instructional treatments most suitable for students having specific patterns of ability (Aiken, 1973). It could also prove the view that Mathematical Achievement was influenced by a composite of specific abilities in Mathematics (Guilford, Hoepfmer and Peterson, 1965; Hills, 1957). Mathematical Achievement was taken to refer to the skills acquired in Mathematics as a result of instruction and experience at school.

As observation made in <u>Some Studies</u> indicated children who excel in Mathematics tended to score high on tests of general intelligence (Duncan, 1961; Kennedy and Walsh, 1965; Geng and Mehl, 1969). The studies attempted to establish whether general intelligence or Mathematical Ability was more important to Mathematical Achievement. Evans (1965) in a separate study found that above average intelligence was necessary but not sufficient for high performance on tests of Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Creativity. This implied that Mathematical Ability was unique in itself. Fox (1976) supported this idea by saying that, knowing that a student had an Intelligence Quotient

(IQ) of 160 was not adequate information for deciding whether or not the student was ready for a college course in science or mathematics. There was need to know the pupils pattern of ability, his level of achievement and interest. IQ just showed the learning potential of a pupil.

Predicting pupils' Mathematical Achievement has been a very tricky problem at every level of education yet a very important one. Basically it entails identifying factors that relate significantly with Mathematical Achievement.

Wick (1965) carried out a correlation study between Mathematical Achievement and scores of factored tests of Mathematical Ability and his results indicated very low correlations. His main concern was to identify factors associated with success in first year college mathematics. Though the result appeared opposite of what would be expected it was possible that there were other factors influencing the outcome. Aiken (1973) reported that results from many other investigations had shown that previous mathematics grades were the best predictors of Mathematical Achievement.

Considering the fact that the subjects for this study were of primary level of education, reviews of studies at a

similar level would be most desirable. Dayo Adejumo (1977) carried out a predictive study on Mathematical Achievement of some Nigerian Children. He used Modified Halls Matrices (MHM), a test of Mathematical Reasoning Ability. With 180 subjects of 7 and 8 years old, the predictive power of the MHM for Mathematical Ability of young children in Nigerian schools was found to be satisfactory and acceptable. The high correlations found between MHM and Mathematical Achievement showed that MHM could be used to detect children with possible deficiencies in logical operations and computational ability.

Studies on the relationship between ability and achievement in mathematics were geared at predicting future achievement in mathematics. The studies have normally used only single factors of Mathematical Ability.

Sherman (1979) attempted to predict mathematics performance in high school girls and boys. She used ninthgrade (standard) scores for 157 females and 148 males for cognitive tests (Test of Academic Progress, Quick Word Test, (Space Relations, Test for Differential Aptitude) and Eight Fennema Sherman Mathematics Attitude scales to predict Mathematics Performance. Using multiple regression, ninthgrade scores significantly predicted mathematics performance

1 - 3 years later. Spatial visualization significantly predicted geometry grade for girls but not for boys. She also found that aside from Mathematical Achievement, Spatial Visualization was the only other variable with significant weight in predicting mathematical problem solving scores for girls over a three year period. Apart from the other findings it noted the importance of spatial ability as a factor of Mathematical Ability.

Guay and McDaniel (1977) had earlier studied the relationship between Mathematical Achievement and Spatial Ability among elementary school children. In their study, four Spatial Ability Tests were administered to 90 children enrolled in grade (standard) 2 through grade (standard) 7. Two tests measured simple spatial ability, that is, visualizing two dimensional configurations, the other two measured complex spatial ability, that is visualizing and mentally rotating three dimensional configurations. Scores on the Iowa Test of Basic Skills were used to classify children as High and Low Achievers. The results indicated that High Mathematical Achievers scored significantly higher than Low Mathematical Achievers in all the four Spatial Tests (p (.05). Additionally males scored significantly higher than females in the two tests measuring complex spatial ability (p 2.05). The findings suggested that among elementary school children,

high Mathematical Achievers have greater Spatial Ability than Low Mathematical Achievers.

El Abd (1971) carried out a study on the relationship between ability and achievement in mathematics of college students in East Africa. He gave out 13 tests based on the four factors of Mathematical Ability, that is, Mathematical Reasoning Ability, Spatial Ability, Computation Ability and Problem Solving Ability to the students. He analysed the relationship between the 13 tests and their performance in Mathematics and English tests. He also analysed the group factors of Mathematical Ability and did a factor analysis of the Mathematical Ability tests. His findings were as follows:

- (a) He found significant correlations between
 Tests of Arithmetic Reasoning and marks from
 teachers examination in English and Mathematics.
- (b) From the analysis of the group factors of Mathematical Ability he found numerical factor and Mathematical Reasoning factor to be the factors which related to Mathematical Achievement.

(c) A factor analysis of the thirteen tests and the mathematics examination marks were found to relate to the Numerical Facility Factor, the Deductive Reasoning Factor and Spatial Visuali zation Factor.

El Abd's finding showed that there was always some connection between the factors of Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement.

Eshiwani (1974) attempted to predict the performance of some Form Two male and female Kenyan students studying a Unit on Probability. His tests were based on:

- (a) Computation Ability
- (b) Mathematical Reasoning Ability
- (c) Comprehension of Mathematical Terms
- (d) Comprehension of Scientific Terms
- (e) Attitude toward Mathematics.
- His findings were as follows:

Mathematical Ability (Five Dots Test) and Mathematical Reasoning Ability (Arithmetic Reasoning Test) were found to be statistically significant predictors of achivement for boys (p $\langle . 05 \rangle$) while comprehension of Mathematical Terms and Mathematical Resoning Ability were found to be statistically significant predictors for girls (p $\langle .05 \rangle$). Further attempt to establish the relationship between Mathematical Achievement and other factors of Mathematical Ability has been through the following studies. Westbrook, et. al., (1965), and Leton and Kim (1966) correlated various intellectual abilities and Mathematical Achievement. Factor analysis (at ages 4, 5 and 6 in the Westbrook et, al.'s study and at grade (standard) 9 in Leton and Kim's study) revealed numerical reasoning and ability to discern verbal meaning to be highly correlated with achievement in Mathematics. Success in solving word problems in Mathematics was found to depend upon skills in reading and computation, but the relative contribution of these skills was not clear.

Martin (1963) found that each of the factors of reading comprehension, computation, abstract verbal reasoning and arithmetic concepts was correlated with problem solving as measured by the Arithmetic problem solving test of the I Iowa Test of Basic Skills given to fourth and eighth graders. The partial correlation between reading and problem solving with computation held constant (about .50) was higher at both grade levels than the partial correlation between computation and problem solving with reading held constant (about .40). As Martin suggested, the relationship between problem solving ability and its underlying skills particularly higher order verbal skills was probably more complex than has been supposed.

In a synthesis of two factor analytic studies of problem solving in Mathematics by Werdelin (1966) the two factor matrices were rotated to a congruent structure. He found that the loadings on the five factors isolated in each study were virtually identical tests of problem solving and they loaded strongly on a general reasoning factor and to a lesser extent on a deductive reasoning and numerical factor. The other factors, space and verbal comprehension were unrelated to problem solving.

Still on the same issue of problem solving ability Thompson (1967) reported that the effects of readability and mental ability on arithmetic problem solving performance were interactive. Although ease of reading was associated with higher performance at both high and low levels of mental ability, the effect was much greater with subjects of low mental ability. Thompson concluded that there was a close relationship between problem solving ability and mental ability. On memory and cognitive structure Bentley (1966) stated that tests of intelligence and achievement favoured memory and cognitive structure.

Concerned about pupil Mathematical Achievement Davison (1963) prepared a review with a view toward developing a "reasoning" test for predicting achievement in modern

mathematics classes, but which would not predict achievement in conventional classes. A number of hypotheses were developed and specific set of studies prepared. Some of and reported these studies were carried out by Davison (September 1, A 1963; September 30, 1963). He found considerable support for using the Hidden Figures Test as differential predictor of Mathematical Achievement and evidence that the test could be handled in grades 8 and 11.

The review presented here shows that while researchers have tried to study the relationship between ability and achievement in mathematics, very few have considered all the factors of Mathematical Ability togetter. Wick (1965) who did this found very low correlations between factored tests of Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement. In studies where single factors of Mathematical Ability were considered the results revealed strong correlations with Mathematical Achievement and this did not depend on the level of education of the subjects.

Though Mathematical Ability has been found to relate to Mathematical Achievement, the influence of Language used in instruction must not be underestimated.

Mathematical Achievement and Language:

2.4

The language used for communication and for instruction in schools forms an important part of the process of education. Where the language used is a second language to the pupils and to some teachers it becomes a very sensitive issue. It would therefore be important to determine the level of proficiency in the language of the pupils and how it would influence their performance in the subject matter areas. The importance of language to learning was inferred from the finding of Vygotsky (1962). He found that language was very important for concept formation.

Mathematics being a subject conceived of as only concerned with numbers and their calculations could be assumed to have nothing to do with language. The connection between Language and Mathematics has been researched.

Trying to get the connection between language and learning of mathematics, Skemp (1977) referred to the qualities of some of the great mathematicians and reported that mathematicians were often poor practitioners with words. His views over language and mathematics were similar to earlier views that verbal and mathematical intelligence would not go together, and that many mathe-

(krutetskii, 1969; Smith, 1964).

According to Aiken (1972, p. 359) "it is generally recognized that not only do linguistic abilities affect performance in mathematics but that mathematics itself is specialized language." Aiken also quoted that several investigations on intermediate grades (children) have yelded correlations between Reading Ability and Mathematical Achievement ranging between r = .40 and r = .86. Though reading ability is a different case, it showed the range of factors that could influence Mathematical Achievement.

Aiken's study supported earlier finding by Rose and Rose (1961) which also observed that childhood training in precise language was essential for performing well in mathematics.

Wrigley (1958) in his study of factors that influence success in mathematics, concluded that "high general intelligence was the first requirement for success in mathematics and that the positive correlations between measures of verbal and Mathematical Abilities could be explained by the joint relationship of these two variables to general intelligence."

Aiken (1972) argued differently on the finding saying that general intelligence could account for a substantial portion of the variability shared by Verbal and Mathematical Ability, but a significant degree of overlap between the first two variables remained unexplained.

Linville (1970) in a short study with 408 fourth grade students from 12 schools, attempted to find the connection between syntactic structures, vocabulary level, and Mathematical Achievement. The analysis of viariance of the results revealed significant main effects in favour of both the difficult and simple vocabulary tests. He concluded that both syntactic structure and vocabulary levels, with vocabulary level being more crucial, were important variables in solving verbal arithmetic problems. He also found that regardless of treatment condition, pupils of higher general ability and/or higher reading ability made significant higher scores on the arithmetic problems than pupils of lower ability.

In their observation Olander and Ehmer (1971) suggested that understanding of mathematical terms on the part of the elementary school pupils was highly interfered with by difficult vocabulary and syntax. Right from the early times this fact had been realized, thus according to Hansen (1944), knowledge of vocabulary was important in

UNIVERSITY OF NAIRON

solving mathematical problems and consequently should be a goal of mathematical instruction.

Retzer (1969) in a study with grade (standard) 8 found that teaching certain concepts of logic not only had differential effects on eighth graders'abilities to verbalize mathematical generalizations, but that students with high verbalization abilities could better transfer learned mathematical generalizations. However, those results could partly be accounted for by other intellectual abilities related to verbalization ability.

While the view maintained by a number of researchers was that language positively influenced Mathematical Achievement, Ahlfor <u>et al.</u>(1962) Wirtz (1971) maintained that language was frequently an obstacle rather than a object of help in understanding mathematics. Their explanation was that perhaps children with higher verbal abilities would learn mathematics more easily if the verbal aspects were emphasized. On the other hand, students with poor verbal (language) backgrounds and abilities could find a non-verbal approach more rewarding.

Still on mathematical learning and language, Madden (1966), Ausubel and Robinson (1969), Cooper (1971) and other

educational researchers pointed out that mathematics itself was a special formalized language and should therefore be taught as such. Munroe (1963) referred to the language of mathematics as "Mathese" and indicated that it u could be easier for the student to understand occidental mathese than other languages. Munroe also noted that because of the inconsistency of notation in mathematics and variations in the interpretations of symbols (especially x and y), it was impossible to construct a complete Mathese - to - English dictionary. Furthermore the majority of mathematicians were apparently not interested in attempting to devise or agree upon a completely incon-

sistent descriptive set of mathematical notations.

Although there was no one-to-one correspondence between the concepts and rules of mathematics and those of native languages, there were many similarities between verbal and mathematical languages.

The importance of language development to Mathematical Ability had been considered by many psychologists foremost among whom were Piaget (1954), Bruner (1966) and Galperin (See Lovel, 1971). Piaget maintained that growth in Linguistic ability followed the development of concrete operational thought rather than preceed it,

although language was important in the completion of such cognitive structures. In contrast Bruner and his associates (1966) maintained that the development of adequate terminology was essential to cognitive growth. It had been noted that one area of difficulty in problem solving was that of translating the verbal information into symbolic manipulative form. These confirmed the importance of language to learning mathematics.

The review has brought important points about language and mathematics performance. The vocabulary and terminology in mathematics are very important for learning and understanding of mathematics. The symbols used for representation of ideas in mathematics in addition to proficiency in the language are very important too.

2.5 Mathematical Achievement and Sex of Pupil.

A considerable amount of data attest to the dislike for mathematics and as a result under-achievement in mathematics by women. This pattern was evident among school children and continued into adulthood and employment where women were under-represented in mathematics-related fields (Ernest, 1976). Dougherty (1975) reported that this phenomenon had generally been explained on the basis of women's mathematics anxiety, "an unspecified fear based

on a projected feeling of inadequacy vis-a-vis some contemplated experience with mathematics" (p. 1).

While no completely satisfactory explanations have been proposed for discrepancies in Mathematical Achievement between males and females, several factors appear related. Studies of attitudes towards mathematics have indicated a reciprocal and mutually reinforcing relationship between attitudes and achievement. It has been observed and data suggest that parental attitudes influence children's attitude and that parents perceive mathematics as more appropriate for boys than for girls (Fennema and Sherman, 1977). Starting in the early grades and continuing through high school, fathers were perceived as the family authority in mathematics and females therefore started being socialized to the image that mathematics was for males (Ernest, 1976). The process often extended to the schools, where teachers and guidance personnel fostered for the attitude that females were less capable in mathematics (Casserly, 1975; Dutton, 1962).

Generally, the existence of sex differences in Mathematical Ability had led to considerable speculation concerning the relative roles of heredity and environment in determining these abilities.

Research results showed that on the average, girls tended to score higher than boys on tests of verbal fluency, arithmetic fundamentals, and rote memory whereas boys were superior in spatial ability, arithmetic reasoning and problem solving (Aiken, 1971; Werdelin, 1961). But Aiken (1973) added that sex differences in abilities were less pronounced in the early grades and there was a general differentiation of abilities with age and experience.

Sherman (1967) trying to explain the importance of spatial ability said that this ability could partially explain the commonly observed sex differences in mathematical performance. Women typically scored lower than men on tests of spatial ability and also showed less interest and proficiency than did men in mathematically based tasks. Evidence supporting Sherman's hypothesis had been reported in several recent studies (Burnett, Lane and Draft, 1979; Hyde, Geiringer and Yen, 1975). Sherman had also suggested that the observed sex differences in spatial skills were to a great extent culturally determined, a contention that had received both support (Garai and Scheinfield, 1968) and contradiction (Maccoby and Jacklin, 1974) from subsequent research. Based on data from twin studies Vardenberg (1968) concluded that spatial ability seemed to be less influenced by educational and cultural factors

than did verbal ability.

In a later study, Fennema and Sherman (1978) attempted to establish sex differences in Mathematical Achievement and related factors. The relationships were investigated between mathematical learning, verbal ability, spatial visualization and eight affective variables. Subjects were 1320 sixth through eighth graders. No sex-related differences over all schools were found for any cognitive variable. Females were significantly less confident of themselves in mathematics, and males stereotyped mathematics as a male domain higher than did females. Fennema and Sherman synthesized the results with those obtained at high school level and found sex related differences in high school areas but not in the same middle schools areas. Where significant differences in achievement were found at both levels, they were accompanied by significant differences in many affective variables. The correlations between Mathematical Achievement and Spatial Visualization in the high school study were .45 for females and .51 for males. In the middle school study the correlations ranged from .51 to .60 between the various variables and spatial visualization with little differences between males and females.

In earlier reviews Fennema (1974) and Maccoby and Jacklin (1974) cited numerous studies in which males

performed better than females on tests of Mathematical Achievement and Spatial Ability. The sex differences were reported to occur starting in early adolescence and continuing into adulthood. In Smith's (1964) analysis of spatial ability studies, he concluded that spatial ability was positively related to high level mathematical conceptualization that is, people who could solve high level mathematics generally had greater spatial ability than people who could not solve those problems. Smith's assertion offered an explanation of why sex differences favouring males were often found concurrently on tests of Mathematical Achievement.

According to Maccoby (1966) sex differences upto the elementary school age were slight but the trend was for the differences, if found, to be in favour of girls. On number concept among pre-school children Maccoby's review on Mathematical Ability showed no sex differences on performance on number conservation tasks or on numeration. During the early school years as well, no sex differences were found in the mastery of numerical operation and mathematical concepts.

In the age range from nine to thirteen, Maccoby's review found that sex differences, when found were usually

in favour of boys. After the age of thirteen, the result of most studies became more consistent in their findings and boys were almost invariably found to be superior. However, Maccoby pointed out that the situation regarding variability between performance of boys and girls varied considerably from study to study. Figures between two-thirds of a standard deviation to less than a fifth of a standard deviation to no significant difference between viariability of girls and boys performances were also quoted by Maccoby. He then concluded that there was little sex difference in variability prior to adulthood.

Making their final comments on the study they conducted to establish sex differences in spatial ability, Maccoby and Jacklin (1974) stated that;

"it was resonable to expect that if the deficit in spatial ability of females resulted from a lack of training, they could begin differing in underlying 'ability', however males could profit more from training than females. At present the issue was simply unresolved" (pp 128 - 129),

In a similar study to investigate the relationship between Mathematical Achievement and Spatial Abilities among elementary school children, Guay and McDaniel (1977) found that with regard to sex differences in spatial abilities the data suggested that among elementary school children, malos

had higher level spatial ability than females, and males and females had similar low level spatial ability. The scores on the spatial tests requiring low level spatial ability were observed independent of the subject's sex. In contrast, male performance on the high level spatial tasks was found to be significantly better than females. The significant sex differences were not found to be a function of any variation. These observations were consistent with literature review by (Maccoby and Jacklin, 1974) indicating sex differences favouring males but inconsistent with that portion of the reviews suggesting that sex differences become evident only during early adolescence.

In a study by Eshiwani (1974) to establish if there were any sex differences in the learning of mathematics among Kenyan high school students, the major purpose was to determine whether there was a significant difference in achievement and retention in mathematics among boys and girls in high schools in Kenya. He used a sample of form two girls and boys. In general he found that the boys achieved higherthan girls and had a more positive attitude towards mathematics than girls and that boys scored higher on tests of mathematical reasoning, computation and comprehension of mathematical and scientific terms.

The results of the regression analysis showed that arithmetic reasoning was a valid predictive variable for boys as well as for girls. However, for girls it seemed that comprehension of mathematical terms and computation ability were important factors in mathematical performance and also valid for use in prediction of future Mathematical Achievement.

On the other hand Wamani (1980) in his study of Mathematical Ability among the primary school children in Nyeri, Kenya had contradictory findings that there were no sex differences in Mathematical Ability. Wamani's study contradicted a number of other studies which had noted sex differences in Mathematical abilities.

2.5.1 Sex Differences - Psychoanalytic Viewpoint

About three decades ago, Plank and Plank (1954) interpreted the existence of sex differences in mathematical performance from a psychoanalytic view point. They called it the "masculine identification hypothesis." These writers claimed that, since a high level of controlled aggression was necessary for mathematical activity, mathematics was primarily a masculine enterprise. It was maintained that, since mathematics was "masculine", women who liked mathe-

matics tended to identify with a strong male figure.

A sprinkling of both negative and postive results had also been obtained in studies designed to test the masculine identification hypothesis. Lambert (1960) found no correlation between mathematical proficiency and masculinity of interest in either sex. In actual fact, the female mathematics majors in Lambert's study showed up as more ""feminine" on the MMPI than non-mathematics majors. But Elton and Rose (1967) reported that college girls who were average in English but high in mathematics on the American College Tests had higher theoretical and lower aesthetic interests (that is, more 'masculine' interests) than girls who were high in English but average in mathematical achievement. Consequently these writers concluded that "masculine role" was an important factor to consider in predicting differences in ability in English and Mathematics.

In a more recent study on sex related differences in mathematics by Fennema and Carpenter (1981) where a sample of 70,000, 9-, 13-, and 17 year olds were used, the two authors used assessment exercises measuring achievement which were categorized by mathematical content and

cognitive level. Five content areas were assessed; number and numeration, variables and relations, geometry, measurement and other topics. Each content area was assessed at four cognitive levels; knowledge, skill, understanding and application. The scores for the sets of items representing the four cognitive levels are summarized in table 2.1. On each cluster of items the percentage of correct responses of males was subtracted from the percentage of correct responses of females. A positive score indicated that females scored higher than males, whereas a negative score indicated the reverse.

TABLE 2.1

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FEMALE AND MALE ACHIEVEMENT

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FEMALE AND MALE AVER PERCENT CORRECT				
COGNITIVE LEVEL	AGE 9	AGE 13	AGE 17	
Knowledge	1.41	- 0.17	- 2.16	
Skill	0.40	1.11	- 2.54	
Understanding	- 0.07	- 0.29	- 3.61	
Application	- 0.37	- 0.60	- 5.04	

The results of the study showed that no clear pattern of differences in achievement was apparent at ages 9 or 13. The average scores for females on the knowledge and skills exercises tended to be slightly in favour of males. At age 17, males' average performance exceeded that of females at every cognitive level.

When they compared achievement of 17 - year old females and males who reported that they had been enrolled in the same mathematics courses, the results indicated that achievement differences still existed when course background was taken into account. For each course background category, male achievement exceeded that of females. It was also noted that the magnitude of the difference increased consistently in relation to the amount of mathematics courses taken. Another consistent trend observable in the 17 year old achievement results was that achievement differences between females and males increased with the cognitive level. There were smaller differences at the lower cognitive levels and larger differences at the higher levels.

Another observation was that within specific content areas, different patterns of performance emerged. Females scored higher on lower level number and

numeration skills at ages 9 and 13. Males scored higher on multi-step word problems in this content area at all ages. A different pattern of results was found on geometry and measurement exercises. At ages 9 and 13, there was a consistent pattern of lower averages for females on geometry and measurement exercises over all cognitive levels. For measurement these differences were often substantial. To them a positive explanation for females' relatively poor performance on geometry and measurement exercises was that a substantial number of those exercises could have involved spatial visualization skills. As had been shown earlier, from about adolescence, females, performed at lower levels than males on items that measured the skill (Maccoby and Jacklin, 1974). As they noted, several geometry exercises in the assessment appeared to require a direct application of spatial visualization skills, and spatial visualization could have played a part in the solution of many other geometry and measurement exercises.

In a way of summary of the study, they found that the assessment results indicated that, on a nationwide basis, there was little difference between males and females in overall Mathematical Achievement at ages 9 and 13.

At age 17 however, females were not achieving at the same level in mathematics as were males. Even when females and males reported that they had been enrolled in the same courses, males' performance was higher than that of females, and that the differences were greatest on the more complex tasks.

2.5.2 Sex differences and Attitude toward Mathematics

Parkar (1974) carried out a study involving 219 students from six classes in two different schools. Although the study did not take sex as a major variable, comparisons were made between boys and girls on achievement and attitudes toward mathematics.

The study used intact Form One classes which were randomly assigned to two groups, a control group and an experimental group. The control group were taught the contents of School Mathematics of East Africa (SMEA) book I through the traditional chalk-talk, teacher-dominated approach while the experimental group learnt the contents of SMEA book one through what Parkar labelled "Programmed Work Cards". Three attitude scales were used in this study.

These were:

- 1. Attitude towards mathematics as a process.
- Attitudes about difficulties of learning mathematics.
- Attitudes towards the place of mathematics in society.

Three tests assessing achievement of the groups were given at the end of first, second and third terms of the school year. A summary of the findings were: Girls performed significantly better than boys in both the groups on the first tests of achievement. In the second test, girls were still significantly better than boys in the experimental group but not in the control group. In the third slight differences favoured the boys doing significatnly better than girls in both groups.

Only two attitudes toward mathematics scales were given to the pupils during the course of the study, one at the beginning and one at the end of the study. For the experimental group, girls had slightly more favourable attitudes on all the three scales, as well as on the total attitude scale. In the control group boys had more favourable attitudes on the "Place of Mathematics in Society Scale",

and on the overall scores on the attitude scales. However none of the differences were significant for either group.

In a study by Sheikh (1976) on sex differences he studied some factors involved in the learning of mathematics among secondary Form three students in Kenya. The factors he considered for the study were, attitude towards mathematics, reading ability, motivation, educational and vocational aspirations. For his study he had about 600 subjects and gave out 17 tests. On cognitive abilities he had achievement tests testing the following abilities in mathematics: Knowledge, Comprehension, Application and Analysis.

The results of the study showed that the sexes differed significantly in their performance in mathematics. In general boys showed superiority at the higher cognitive levels while the differences between girls and boys were not significant at the lower level subtests on knowledge and comprehension. Overall boys did significatnly better than girls. This has been supported by a more recent study mentioned earlier of Fennema and Carpenter (1981). Sheikh felt that the poor performance of girls at the higher cognitive levels of thinking, that is application and analysis, was attributable to their lack of suitable background experiences which are necessary for higher order

cognitive processes.

Another finding of the study was that girls had significantly more unfavourable attitudes toward mathematics on two of the three subscales used. Thus girls enjoy mathematics far less than boys. Boys intend for advanced level mathematics more than girls, and also aspire for technical jobs as opposed to girls. Finally evidence from regression analysis suggested that for boys, educational aspiration was the best non-cognitive variable for prediction on their achievement in Mathematics. This study confirmed the results of some of the earlier studies.

One of the very & studies on Mathematical Achievement was an international project which involved 12 different countries (Australia, Belgium, England, Finland, France, Germany, Israel, Japan, The Netherlands, Scotland, Sweden and United States and) edited by Husen (1967). In the study, a number of factors that influenced Mathematical Achievement were investigated. One of the important factors studied was, sex differences in Mathematical Achievement. In the words of the authors, the aims of studying sex differences were to determine:

..... the way in which cultural views of the role of men and women influenced not only the taking of mathematics courses but also achievement of boys and girls. --- whether sex differences were reflected in verbal as compared to computational problem. -----and to understand how sex roles were related to interest in mathematics, plans to take further mathematics (Husen, 1967) p. 204.

In a way of summary, the findings of this large study were:

On total mathematics scores, significant differences were found in favour of boys in all four target populations. Boys showed greater variability in their achievement.

On verbal problems, clear differences in favour of boys were found in all populations with the exception of Israel, U.S.A. and Sweden.

On interest in mathematics, boys showed significantly greater interests than girls in all populations.

On a test on difficulty in learning mathematics, very few significant differences were found. The only significant case of girls finding mathematics easier than boys was Israel. In Finland and Netherlands boys found mathematics easier than girls. Studying single-sex schools, boys were significantly better than girls in all populations on achievement in mathematics. No significant differences between boys and girls on interest was found in mathematics. Only in Australia and Israel were girls superior to boys in the single sex schools.

Summarising a number of researches, Hochchild (1973) explained that,

"the sexes differ in the way they think (Maccoby, 1966), perceived (Bieri, et, al., 1958) aspire (Horner, 1968; Turner, 1964), experience anxiety (Sinnick, 1956), day dream (Singer, 1958) and play competitive games (Vesugi and Vinachke, 1963). Men tend to have an exploitative strategy, women an accomodative one, which even win some games" p. 253.

From the review it can be seen that the issue of sex differences in mathematical performance is not yet resolved. The explanations for sex differences in mathematics have involved social, psychoanalytic, affective domains of human life.

In summary the findings of the studies reviewed indicated that Mathematical Ability was composed of specific ability factors, that is, Mathematical Reasoning Ability, Spatial (Visualization) Ability, Numerical (Computational) Ability and Problem Solving Ability. These factors were also defined in operational terms.

Studies attempting to relate factors of Mathematical Ability to Mathematical Achievement were also reported. These studies were reported on different levels of education, that is elementary school level, high school level and college level. Most of the studies concentrated on the relationship between spatial ability and mathematical performance. In general positive relationships were found between individual factors of Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement, though in some cases low correlations were reported.

The importance of language used for instruction in Mathematics and Vocabulary of Mathematical terms to learning mathematics was also shown.

Sex differences in mathematics were found consistently in many aspects of mathematics. The explanations for such differences were hypothesized to originate from the females' negative attitudes and female role identification. Generally the issue on sex differences was not fully resolved.

Regarding the Kenyan Primary School pupils, mainly the ones in standard seven who face the C.P.E. examination it would be important to find some information about their performance and factors influencing their performance. According to this review, Mathematics would be an important subject for such a study. The focus for this study derived from the fact that in Kenya pupils attend different school types and have English Language as medium of instruction which is their second language. Further, was the consistent sex differences found in mathematical performance of the pupils. The most important is the fact that standard seven level of education is basically the terminal level of primary education. Success in C.P.E. examinations is crucial to consideration for secondary education.

In this study therefore, four hypotheses were advanced. The hypotheses were stated in null form.

2.6 Hypotheses

Null Hypothesis I

(1) There is no significant relationship
 between scores on Mathematical Achievement
 test and scores on Mathematical Ability tests

of the pupils.

- (ii) There is no significant relationship between scores on Mathematical Achievement tests and scores on Mathematical Vocabulary test of the pupils.
- (111) There is no significant relationship between scores on Mathematical Achievement test and English Language Proficiency test of the pupils.

Null Hypothesis II

There is no significant difference between scores of pupils attending Low Cost, Medium cost and High-Cost schools in;

- (i) Mathematical Achievement Test
- (ii) Arithmetic Reasoning Test
- (iii) Computation Test
 - (iv) Whole Number Comprehension Test
 - (v) Hidden Figures Test
 - (vi) Foarm Board Test
(vii) Five Dots Test

(viii) Problem Solving Test

(ix) Mathematical Ability Total

(x) Mathematical Vocabulary Test

(xi) English Language Proficiency Test

Null Hypothesis III

There is no significant difference between the scores of male and female pupils in;

- (i) Mathematical Achievement Test
- (ii) Arithmetic Reasoning Test
- (iii) Computation Test
- (iv) Whole Number Comprehension Test
- (v) Hidden Figures Test
- (vi) Foarm Board Test
- (vii) Five Dots Test
 - (viii) Problem Solving Test
 - (ix) Mathematical Ability Total
 - (x) Mathematical Vocabulary Test
 - (xi) English Language Proficiency Test

Null Hypothesis IV

1.4

The variation in Mathematical Achievement test scores will not be fullyaccounted for by the Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency, Type of school, Sex of pupil, Age, Class repetition, After-school coaching in Mathematics and After-school coaching in English.

Basic Assumption

This study assumed that there existed individual differences in Mathematical Ability. Ability in Mathematics was therefore normally distributed among the pupils, following individual differences. Having reviewed researches related to this study, chapter three will present the methodology of the study. This will involve sampling of subjects, and data collection (testing) procedures.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODS AND INSTRUMENTS

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter attempt is made to describe the sample chosen for the study, procedures and instruments used in gathering data to test the hypotheses.

3.2 The Sample

The number of primary schools in Kenya are in the tens of thousands. To be able to get a sample which would be representative and meaningful was difficult and beyond the scope of this study. In this study, the sample of schools were drawn from Kisumu town and its periphery within a radius of 10 kilometres. This region contained a total of 45 primary schools. The importance of choosing this area was mainly because it consisted of schools which distinctly differed from one another in terms of general costs and maintenance. This phenomenon was found common with Primary Schools in other parts of the Republic of Kenya. Basically the schools found in this area were of three types, that is Low Cost, Medium Cost, and High Cost schools. The three types of schools are described below. Low-Cost Primary Schools

These were the schools mainly found in peri-urban and rural areas. They were partly maintained by the government, though much of the funds came from contributions by the local people of the area. The school buildings were quite poor (most of them semi-permanent) and not well maintained. The schools lacked alot of school equipment and stationery. Enrolment of pupils per class was very high about 50. The majority of teachers were untrained. The pupils paid no school fees except at times some contributions towards schools funds.

Medium-Cost Primary Schools.

These were the Municipal Schools. The schools were funded and maintained by the Municipality through government grant. The buildings were permanent with amenities such as light and water. The schools had some equipment and stationery. The enrolment of pupils per class was on the average 40. The teaching staff were all trained though not particularly with high grades. There were also some subordinate staff. The school fees were reduced to school funds.

High-Cost Primary Schools.

These schools were found within the urban Greas. They were private community maintained schools. The communities that funded such schools included Ismalia, Hindu, Goan, etc. The school buildings were permanent with all the amenities in a well kept compound. The schools had all the necessary equipment and stationery, text books, etc. The enrolment of pupils per class was on the average 30. The teaching staff were all highly qualified. The schools were also fully staffed with both teaching staff and subordinate staff. School fees were paid in these schools.

The study involved a sample of 634 pupils in standard seven from some fifteen primary schools. The selection of the schools according to type was done by the stratifiedrandom sampling technique. Five Low Cost, Six Medium Cost and Four High-Cost schools were sampled. The type of schools sampled varied in number. This was because these schools were not equal numbers in the area chosen for study and the intention was to have fair representation. In every school the pupils varied in sex, age, class repetition and after-school coaching in Mathematical and in English.

Table 3.1 presents the distribution of pupils attending Low Cost, Medium Cost and High Cost schools by their sex, age, class repetition, after-school coaching in Mathematics, and in English.

. .

1.1

.

TABLE 3.1

DISTRIBUTION OF PUPILS ATTENDING LOW COST, MEDIUM COST, AND HIGH-COST SCHOOLS BY THEIR SEX, AGE, REPEATER, AFTER-SCHOOL COACHING IN MATHEMATICS AND AFTER-SCHOOL COACHING IN ENGLISH.

	-		
	SCHOOLS	MEDIUM COST SCHOOLS	HIGH COST SCHOOLS
N	242(38.1%)	264(41.7%)	128(20.2%)
SEX			
Males	161 (66.5%)	131(49.4%)	70(54.7%)
Females	81(33.5%)	134(50.6%)	58(45.3%)
AGE			
11.5-13.0			
Years	22(9.1%)	70(26.4%)	81(63.3%)
13.1-14.5 Years	71 (29.3%)	105 (39.6%)	38(29.7%)
14.6-16.0 Years	71 (29 . 3%)	68(25.7%)	8(6.2%)
16.1+++ Years	· 78(32.2%)	22 (8.3%)	1(0.8%)
IF REPEATER	181 (74.8%)	179(67.5%)	43(33.6%)
No	61(25,2%)	86(32.5%)	85(66.4%)
IF COACHING IN MATHS			
Yes	113(46.7%)	190(71.7%)	80(62.5%)
No	129 (58.3%)	75(28.3%)	48(37.5%)
IF COACHING IN ENGLISH	•		
Yes	104(42.6%)	161(60.8%)	78(60.9%)
No	138(57.4%)	104(39.2%)	50(39.1%)

.

The analysis of the pupils' age showed that their ages ranged from 11 to 21 years. About 40 percent of the sample were above 14¹/₂ years of age, 16 percent were above 16 years of age. The modal age was 14 years instead of the expected 13++ (6 + 7) years, since children were enrolled at about 6 years of age in standard one and they take 7 years in primary education. The majority of the pupils were males (57%) as compared to females (43%). About two in every three pupils were repeaters. Repetition was considered in any class during the primary school and could be more than once.

Taking children to private tutors for after-school coaching (private tutoring) in their weaker subject areas was a widespread practice among manyparents. Normally parents hired a teacher or teachers to drill their children during after-school times and weekends at certain payments. This practice was normally at its peak when pupils were in standard seven. The idea was to get the child to pass C.P.E., a gateway to secondary education. It was found that 60 percent of the pupils went for a after-school coaching in Mathematics and 54 percent in English.

3.2.1 Selection of Subjects.

Permission to carry out the research was granted by Kenyan Office of the President in February, 1981. The decision to obtain a sample from schools in Kisumu District was prompted by the investigator's considerable familiarity with many areas in the district. This decision was useful because the time and funds available to collect the data were limited.

The primary schools have three terms with approximately one month holiday between the terms. Each term is approximately three months. The testing of the subjects was carried out in the first term between February and March, 1981. Subjects for the study were selected by the stratifiedrandom sampling technique. The testing took one day per school. The number of pupils in standard seven in these schools varied. The mean class size was 42 with a standard deviation of about 4 and a range from 30 to 51. 40 percent of the schools had between 41 to 51 pupils per class and 60 percent of schools had between 41 to 51 pupils per class. Singe all the schools had more than one standard seven class, only one class was considered and its choice was random.

3.3 Variables Selected for the Study

The dependent variable for this study was Mathematical Mathematical Achievement was viewed broadly Achievement. to be related to different environmental and ability variables. The main independent variables for the study were Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency, Type of school, and Sex of pupil. The independent variables were chosen on the assumption that they influence Mathematical Achievement. Under normal circumstances what one achieves is presumed to depend on his ability in that area. Given the environmental variations other factors could become significant in influencing what one achieves. It was also viewed that the language used in instruction and testing for what one knows, and knowledge of key terms in a particular discipline such as Mathematics can influence his performance in that discipline. The language used for instruction was particulary important in this study because too many pupils English Language was their second language. Sex differences in Mathematical performance had been observed and deserved further scrutiny. Finally, based on differences among the type of schools it was possible that pupils' Mathematical Achievement would be influenced.

This was because it was possible that the teaching and learning experiences differed with the schools and therefore for the pupils. The variables are discussed in detail in the following section.

3.3.1 Mathematical Achievement.

Mathematical Achievement was the dependent variable for the study. To assess the level of achievement in Mathematicis for the pupils, a Mathematical Achievement Test was set by the researcher and pretested. The reliability coefficient was 0.78. The test was based on the Kenya Primary Mathematics Syllabus and was set to standard seven level. The questions were based on C.P.E. format with similar level of difficulty. The main skills tested for were knowledge of facts, understanding comprehension, application and analysis. The topics covered in the test included:

- (a) Sets
- (b) Number and Numeral
- (c) Operation and Properties
- (d) Geometry and Measurement
- (e) Fractions and Decimals
- (f) Integers

(1) Ince ore

- g) Mathematical Statements (Algebra), and
- (h) Statistics.

The number of test items testing each skill was carefully prepared through a test blue print. There were a total of 24 items, 18 of which were multiple choice items while six were problem type. For each multiple choice item one mark was awarded for a correct response. For the problem type items, two marks were awarded for correct statement and correct answer, and either of the two awarded one mark. No mark was awarded for both wrong statement and wrong answer. A maximum of 30 marks and a minimum of zero marks were possible. The test was for 45 minutes.

3.3.2 Mathematical Ability

As already mentioned, what one achieves in a given subject discipline was viewed to be a reflection of his potential capacity in that area. For Mathematics, there was Mathematical Ability. Mathematical Ability was found to be composed of the following factors:

- (a) Mathematical Reasoning Ability
 - (b) Spatial Perceptual (Visualization) Ability

- (c) Numerical (Computational) Ability
- (d) Problem Solving Ability.

Each of these factors as discussed in Chapter Two were testable through the following tests:

- (i) Arithmetic Reasoning Test (15)
- (11) Five Dots Test (19)
- (111) Hidden Figures Test (8)
 - (iv) Foarm Board Test (12)
 - (v) Computation Test (15)
 - (vi) Whole Number Comprehension Test (12)
- (vii) Problem Solving Test (10)

and validated

The tests were constructed by the School Mathematics Study Group (SMSG, 1968). The tests were also shown to have reliability coefficients between 0.68 and 0.84. The total number of items in these tests were 81 and each correct response to an item was awarded one mark, and incorrect response no mark. In all the tests the items were multiple choice type except in computation test where actual answers had to be filled in a space provided. A maximum of 81 marks were tenable with a minimum of zero. Each test was timed. The time in minutes for each test was

In bracket are the number of test items in each test.

Arithmetic Reasoning (15), Five Dots (20), Hidden Figures (10), Foarm Board (15), Computation (15), Whole Number Comprehension (15) and Problem Solving (10).

3.3.3 Mathematical Vocabulary

This was the ability to understand and comprehend the meaning of certain mathematical terms in common use in the Kenya Primary Mathematics Syllabus.

Mathematical Vocabulary test was constructed by the researcher based on the common mathematical terms and vocabulary in Primary Mathematics Syllabus. It was pretested and the reliability coefficient was found to be 0.61. The main task in this test was to provide meaning and application of some mathematical terms. It was viewed that knowledge of Mathematical Vocabulary would aid in the understanding of verbal problems in mathematics. There were 8 items in the test, each awarded one mark. The test was for 10 minutes.

3.3.4 English Language Proficiency.

The language used for instruction and its use in examinations and tests for assessing the pupils' progress in mathematics is an important aspect of the learning process. To understand what was taught and what a question demands require some proficiency in the language used. It might therefore be possible to explain in some ways the variations in Mathematical Achievement by level of proficiency in English Language.

Proficiency in English Language constituted the ability to make correct sentence constructions in English, give correct meaning to English words, correct word simile and an ability to discern correct information form a given passage.

The English Language Proficiency Test was constructed and prefested by the researcher with the help of a language specialist.

The reliability coefficient of the test was 0.67. The test items were on grammar, vocabulary, similar words (synonyms) and comprehension. There were a total of 20 test items. A correct response to an item earned one mark and incorrect response no mark. A maximum of 20 marks with a minimum of zero marks were possible. The test was for 20 minutes. The level of performance on this test reflected the degree of understanding of English Language. The importance of this test lay in detecting how performance in Mathematics was influenced by proficiency in English Language. This was because for the majority of the pupils, their mother tongue was not English so the degree of competence in the language varied from one pupil to another, depending on the language adopted in the home and speed of learning the language.

The other variables, sex of pupils and type of school had been dealt with in the previous sections.

3.4 Data Collection and Instruments.

The data for this study were obtained through test administration which included a detailed pupil identification form. The procedures were as follows:

3.4.1 Test Administration

1

A testing programme was sent to the school headmasters in advance showing the tests timetable and requirements. To take the tests, the pupils were required to have a pencil, rubber and rough paper. Below is the list of the tests taken by the pupils in that order: (a) Mathematical Ability Test (Seven sub-tests)

- (i) Arithmetic Reasoning Test
- (11) Computation Test
- (111) Whole Number Comprehension Test
- (iv) Hidden Figures Test
 - (v) Foarm Board Test
- (vi) Five Dots Test
- (vii) Problem Solving Test
- (b) Mathematical Achievement Test
- (c) Mathematical Vocabulary Test
- (d) English Language Proficiency Test.

Each of the tests had an answer sheet where pupils were expected to write the answers. The items involved multiple choice and structured type questions. A detailed pupil identification questionnaire was attached to the answer sheet of Mathematical Ability Test. The questionnaire required information mainly on pupil's age, sex, class repetition and after-school coaching in Mathematics and or English. The classes were Kept intact.

Since the pupils had normally had a testing experience, it was assumed that it was not a surprise to them.

The instructions given before the tests were as follows:

You are going to take a test The tests are for research puposes The test will not reflect on your examination results . Feel free and do your level best. You have a specific time for each test. Work fast but try to be accurate. Choose the answer you think is correct and put a tick or a cross and where indicated, provide the solution.

The whole testing programme took one day per school.

3.4.2 Scoring of Test

The main research instruments for this study were the tests. After the test administration the scoring was done by the researcher. The marks for each test were then summed up. The total scores for the tests for the pupils were then analysed using different techniques of statistical analysis.

3.4.3 Analysis of Data

The statistical techniques deemed appropriate for this analysis were correlation analysis (matrix), t-test, one way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and step-wise multiple regression analysis. Such an analysis would be very complex and tedious if done manually, so the services of a computer were utilized. A statistical package for social science (SPSS) was used to set a programme for the computer.

With the data ready, the next chapter presents the results of data analysis and then a discussion of the findings.

.....

. .

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the results of data analysis. The results are also interpreted and discussed to provide possible explanation for the findings of the study.

4.2 Statistical Procedures

To analyse the data the services of a computer were used. All the analyses were performed using the statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 600 program (Nie, et. al., 1975).

The statistical tools used in data@nalysis were the Pearson Product- Moment Correlation, t-test, one way analysis of variance, and step-wise multiple regression analysis. To test the hypotheses, each of the statistical methods was used. An answer to the question "Is there any relationship between the scores of pupils in Mathematical Achievement test and Mathematical Ability tests?" was provided by the use of Pearson Product-moment Correlation method. This method gave an indication of the strength and direction of the relationship between the two variables. To test if pupils attending Low Cost, Medium Cost, and High Cost Schools differed significantly in their test scores, one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used. Similarly sex - differences in the performance of pupils on the tests were determined by the t-test method. Finally to determine the factors which explained the variation in Mathematical Achievement, step-wise multiple regression analysis was used.

4.2 Results and Interpretation.

In this section statements of hypotheses in null form will be presented. These will be followed by the results of data analysis based on the hypotheses and on the interpretation of the results.

4.3.1 Relationship between Achievement and Ability in Mathematics and Language Factors.

Null Hpothesis I

(1) There is no significant relationship between scores on Mathematical Achievement test and scores on Mathematical Ability tests of the pupils.

- (ii) There is no significant relationship between scores on Mathematical Achievement test and scores on Mathematical Vocabulary test of the pupils.
 - (iii) There is no significant relationship between scores on Mathematical Achievement test and English Language Proficiency test of the pupils.

۲.,

INTERCORRELATIONS OF MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST SCORES WITH MATHEMATICAL ABILITY, MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY AND ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TESTS SCORES FOR ALL PUPILS (N = 634)

	_	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1.	Mathematical Achievement		. 49**	. 60**	.63**	.18*	. 48**	.49	. 55**	.73**	. 56**	. 49**
2.	Arithmetic Reasoning			. 38 **	.43**	.15	.35**	. 40**	. 42**	. 65**	.36**	. 36**
3.	Computation				. 52**	.17*	. 32**	.37**	. 48**	.67**	. 46 **	, 35**
4.	Whole Number Comprehension					.18*	. 42**	** . 46	.52**	.73**	. 46**	.44
5.	Hidden Figures						.30**	. 27**	.17*	. 43**	.11	.18*
6.	Foarm Board					٠		.42**	. 42**	.68**	.32**	.34**
7.	Five Dots								. 44**	.78**	. 40**	.40**
8.	Problem */ Solving									. 69**	.42**	, 48 **
9.	Mathematical Ability Total										. 54**	. 54
10	Mathematical Vocabulary											. 46**
11	English Language Proficiency											44

The results of correlation analysis for all the pupils presented in table 4.1 indicate significant relationship between Mathematical Achievement test scores and Mathematical Ability test scores at a significancelevel of p < .01, except with hidden figures test scores where the correlation was significant at p < .05. These result suggest: that the higher the scores in Mathematical Ability tests, the higher the scores in Mathematical Ability tests, the higher the scores in Mathematical Achievement was influenced by their ability in mathematics such that what a pupil achieved in mathematics was^aresult of his Mathematical Ability.

The relationship between Mathematical Achievement test scores and Mathematical Vocabulary test scores was also found to be significant at p < 01. Significant relationship was also found between Mathematical Achievement test scores and English Language Proficiency test scores. This showed that higher scores in Mathematical Achievement test were associated with higher scores in Mathematical Vocabulary test and also with higher scores in English Language Proficiency test. In other words the result suggests that knowledge of Mathematical Vocabulary and the level of proficiency in English Language is important and influences pupil Mathematical Achievement.

From the results presented on table 4.1, the null hypothesis I was rejected. The result proved that performance in Mathematical Achievement test was linked with pupils Ability in Mathematics, his knowledge in Mathematical Vocabulary and his level of proficiency in English Language.

4.3.2 Relationship between type of school and test performance.

This section deals with the following question, "Does attending a given school type cause a difference in the performance of pupils in the tests". Below is the null hypothesis related to the question.

Null Hypothesis II

There is no significant difference between scores of pupils attending Low Cost, Medium Cost and High Cost schools in;

- (i) Mathematical Achievement Test
- (ii) Arithmetic Reasoning Test
- (iii) Computation Test
- (iv) Whole Number Comprehension Test.
 - (v) Hidden Figures Test.

- (vi) Foarm Board Test
- (vii) Five Dots Test
 - (viii) Problem Solving Test
 - (ix) Mathematical Ability Total
 - (x) Mathematical Vocabulary Test
 - (xi) English Language Proficiency Test.

To test this hypothesis the mean scores for pupils attending the three school types were compared using the One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) technique. Table 4.2 presents the mean and standard deviation of test scores for pupils attending the three school types.

MEAN AND STANDARD DEVIATION OF MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST, MATHEMATICAL ABILITY TEST, MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY TEST AND ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TEST FOR LOW-COST, MEDIUM COST AND HIGH COST SCHOOLS

TEST	LOW SCH	-COST 00LS =242)	MEDIU SCHOO (N = 1	JM-COST DLS 264)	HIGH SCHC	-COST OLS 128)	
	MEAN	<u>S.D</u> .	MEAN	<u>S.D</u> .	MEAN	<u>S.D</u> .	
Mathe matical Achieve- ment	12.9	6.2	11.3	5.2	17.9	4.5	
Arithmetic Reasoning	5.9	2.2	5.5	2.2	7.1	2.2	
Computation	12.6	2.2	11.9	2.3	13.9	1.5	
Whole No. Comprehen- sion	5.3	2.3	4.9	2.1	7.0	1.9	
Hidden Figures	3.1	1.8	3.0	1.9	3.6	2.0	
Foarm Board	2.9	2.5	3.3	2.5	4.6	2.7	
Five Dots	6.0	3.8	5.9	3.5	8.7	4.7	
Problem Solving	4.4	2.0	4.5	1.9	6.2	1.5	
Mathematical Ability- Total	40.3	11.5	38.8	10.5	51.0	11.1	
Mathematical							
Vocabulary	4.6	1.9	4.5	1.8	6.0	1.6	
English Language Proficiency	8.1	3 4	9.8	3.0	13.5	2.6	

An observation of the mean test scores for these three school types show that the mean test scores for pupils in High-Cost schools were higher as compared to the other two school types. Between Low Cost and Medium Cost schools the differences could not be clearly discerned. As already indicated above One-Way ANOVA technique was used to establish the differences. The tables below show the summary of the One-Way ANOVA technique for the tests.

TABLE 4.3

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVMENT TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	р
Between School types	3867.4	1933.7	2	64.1	.001
Within a School type	19057.8	30.2	632		
Total	22925.2		634		

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR ARITHMETIC REASONING TEST

×

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between schools types	215.4	107.7	2	23.1	.001
Within a school type	2946.8	4.7	632		
Total	3162.2		634		

TABLE 4.5

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR COMPUTATION

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between schools types	330.8	165.4	2	35.6	.001
Within a school type	2936.5	4.6	632		
Total	3267.4		634		

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR WHOLE NUMBER COMPREHENSION TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	P
Between school types	412.2	206.1	2	44.9	.001
Within a school type	2898.5	4.6	632		
Total	3310.7		634		

TABLE 4.7

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR HIDDEN FIGURES TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	P
Between school type	es 42.6	21.3	2	5.99	.001
Within a school of type	2246.3	3.55	632		
Total	2288.9		634		

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR FOARM BOARD TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between school types	255.4	127.7	2	19.6	.001
Within a school type	4127.0	6.5	632		
Total	4382.4		634		

TABLE 4.9

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR FIVE DOTS TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between school / types	744.1	372.0	2	24.5	.001
Within a school type	9580.4	15.2	632		
Total	10324.5		634		

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR PROBLEM SOLVING TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between school types	= 306.5	153.2	2	45.0	.001
Within a school type	2152.3	3.4	632		
Total	2458.8		634		

TABLE 4.11

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR MATHEMATICAL ABILITY - TOTAL

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between school types	13815.0	6907.5	2	56.9	. 001
Within a school type	76735.2	121.4	632		
Total	90550.2		634		

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	Р
Between schools types	207 5	103 7	2	21 7	001
Within a school type	2069.5	3.3	632	01.7	
Total	2277.0		634		

TABLE 4.13

SUMMARY OF ONE-WAY ANOVA FOR ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TEST

SOURCE	SS	MS	df	F	р
Between school types	2388.7	1194.3	2	125.0	.001
Within a school type	6040.8	9.6	632		
Total	8429		634		

The results of One-Way ANOVA show that the scores of the pupils attending the three school types differed significantly at $p \lt.001$. The differences were clearly in favour of the pupils attending High Cost schools. This was by judging from the fact that on the average the pupils of High Cost schools consistently scored higher marks in Mathematical Achievement test, Mathematical Ability tests, Mathematical Vocabulary test and English Language Proficiency test as compared to the pupils of Medium Cost and Low Cost schools. This result led to the rejection of the hypothesis of no differences between the scores of pupils attending the three school types. On further scrutiny of this finding, t-test was applied to two school types at a time. The results of this test presented in tables 4.14, 4.15 and 4.16 show that between pupils in High Cost and Medium Cost schools, and between pupils of High Cost and Low Cost schools, in all the tests, the differences in the scores were statistically significant at p <. 001, in favour of pupuls in High Cost schools.

This result justified the fact that all the differences found earlier were in favour of pupils in High Cost schools. However, between pupils of Low Cost and Medium Cost schools significant differences were found only in some tests. There were differences in Computation test (p χ .001) and Whole Number Comprehension test (p ζ .02).

Both these two tests were a part of Mathematical Ability tests. Other tests were Mathematical Achievement tests $(p_{\ell}.001)$ and English Language Proficiency test $(p_{\ell}.001)$. Interesting enough the differences in Mathematical Achievement test scores and in the two Mathematical Ability test scores were in favour of pupils of Low Cost schools while for English Language Proficiency test the differences were in favour of pupils in Medium Cost schools. This implies that pupils in Medium Cost schools had on the average a higher level of proficiency in English Language over pupils from Low Cost schools, while pupils in Low Cost schools were better in Mathematics. This could be explained by considering the fact that proficiency in English Language is not as important to Mathematical Achievement as Vocabulary of Mathematical terms. Knowledge of Mathematical terminology has been shown to influence Mathematical performance (Aiken, 1971; Eshiwani, 1974). On the other hand since Medium Cost schools were found in the urban areas, it is possible that the pupils attending the schools were more used to communicating in English as they did not have a common mother tongue and therefore were proficient in English Language use as opposed to pupils in Low Cost schools who are in the rural areas and normally have a common mother tongue.

MEAN DIFFERENCES IN TEST SCORES FOR LOW COST AND HIGH

COST SCHOOLS.

/

TESTS	MEAN SCORE FOR LOW COST	MEAN SCORES FOR HIGH COST	t-test
Nathematical Achieve-			
ment.	12.9	17.9	p∠.001
Arithmetic Reasoning	5.9	7.1	p∠.001
Computation	12.6	13.9	p ∠.0 01
Whole Number Compre-			
hension	5.3	7.0	p < .001
Hidden Figures	3.1	3.6	pζ.001
Foarm Board	2.9	4.6	p ∠ .001
Five Dots	6.0	8.7	p < .001
Problem Solving	4.4	6.2	p < .001
Mathematical Ability Total	40.3	51.0	p <. 001
Mathematical Voca- bulary	4.6	6.0	p <.001
English Language Proficiency	8.1	13.5	p ∠.001
TABLE 4.15

MEAN DIFFERENCES IN TEST SCORES FOR MEDIUM AND HIGH COST SCHOOLS

TEST	MEAN SCORE FOR MEDIUM COST	MEAN SCORE FOR HIGH COST	t-test
Mathematical Achieve- ment.	11.3	17.9	p<.001
Arithmetic Reasoning	5.5	7.1	p<.001
Computation	11.9	13.9	p2.001
Whole Number Comprehen- sion	4.9	7.0	p<.001
Hidden Figures	3.0	3.6	p<.001
Foarm Board	3.3	4.6	p <.001
Five Dots	5.9	8.7	p<.001
Problem Solving	4.5	6.2	pζ.001
Mathematical Ability Total	38.8	51.0	p <.001
Mathematical Vocabulary	4.5	6.0	p∠.001
English Language Proficiency	9.8	13.5	p∠.001

TABLE 4.16

MEAN DIFFERENCES IN TEST SCORES FOR LOW COST AND MEDIUM COST

SCHOOLS

.

. .

TEST	MEAN SCORE FOR LOW COST	MEAN SCORES FOR MEDIUM	t -test
Mathematical Achievement	12.9	11.3	p∠.001
Arithmetic Reasoning	5.9	5.5	nĸ
Computation	12.6	11.9	p≺.001
Whole Number Compren- sion	5.3	4.9	p<.001
Hidden Figures	3.1	3.0	ns
Foarm Board	2.9	3.3	ns
Five Dots	6.0	5.9	ns
Problem Solving	4.4	4.5	ns
Mathematical Ability Total	40.3	38.8	ns
Mathematical Vocabulary	4.6	4.5	na .
English Language Proficiency	8.1	9.8	p<.001

In general when the scores in Mathematical Ability tosts wore summed up, no significant difference was found between pupils in Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools. No significant difference was found in the scores on Mathematical Vocabulary test as well. Significant differences only occurred in Mathematical Achievement test scores and English Language Proficiency test scores.

It is therefore clear from this analysis that the performance of pupils attending High Cost schools was better than that of pupils attending Medium-Cost and Low-Cost schools in the areas they were tested in. The situation was found to be slightly different when pupils from Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools were compared. While in some areas no difference was registered in other areas the pupils' scores were found to differ. In general the pupils in High Cost schools can be viewed to have developed their abilities in mathematics to a high level and therefore had a higher potential in mathematics. Their level of proficiency in English Language and knowledge of Mathematical terms were also higher as compared to the other pupils, and as a result they achieved higher in mathematics. On the other hand it must be made clear that pupils attending High-Cost schools were from homes where parents were educated and were professionals. So the children grew up in very stimulating environments, which is not the case for

pupils attending Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools. At the same time it Should be understood that ability tests are very difficult to construct such that the ones used here though constructed by professionals could not tap fully a pupil's ability in mathematics. It is possible therefore that the ability tests to some degree acted as achievement test, thus ability tests could be viewed as influenced by the environmental factors.

The results also showed that the pupils in Low Cost and Medium Cost schools had equivalent ability in Mathematics and knowledge of Mathematical terms, although pupils in Medium-Cost schools were better than those in Low-Cost schools in proficiency in English Language. Pupils in Low Cost schools performed better than pupils in Medium-Cost schools in Mathematics. An important point to note here is how the pupils get to these types of schools. As Medium-Cost and High-Cost schools are found in the urban areas, it is possible that through the Mursery Schools the first selection of the top pupils are taken by the High Cost schools and the rest find their ways in the Medium Cost schools. In the rural areas since it is only Low-Cost schools that are around, basically all pupils go to that type of schools. It therefore seems as if in the urban areas High-Cost schools have the top echelon of talent of pupils, while Medium-Cost schools have the lower talent of pupils.

In the Low-Cost schools pupils of all levels of talent are found, and the only problem is with the development of these talents. Therefore in a case where pupils attending Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools are compared in very strict terms, pupils of Low-Cost schools are most likely to be found smarter. This could explain why pupils in Medium-Cost schools had a higher level of proficiency in English Language than pupils of Low-Cost schools, when pupils of Low-Cost schools turned out better than pupils of Medium Cost schools in Mathematical Achievement. This was likely because pupils in Medium-Cost schools both outside and within the school communicate more in English as compared to pupils in Low-Cost schools.

4.3.3 Relationship between sex of pupil and test performance.

The question to be answered here is "Do male and female pupils differ in their scores on the test?" Below is the statement of null hypothesis based on the question.

Null Hypothesis III

There is no significant difference between the scores of male and female pupils in

(1) Mathematical Achievement Test

- (ii) Arithmetic Reasoning
- (iii) Computation Test
- (iv) Whole Number Comprehension Test
 - (v) Hidden Figures Test
 - (vi) Foarm Board Test
- (vii) Five Dots Test
- (viii) Problem Solving Test
 - (ix) Mathematical Ability Total
 - (x) Mathematical Vocabulary Test
- (xi) English Language Proficiency Test

Table 4.17 presents results of t-test to prove the hypothesis.

TABLE 4.17

MEAN DIFFERENCES ON MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST, MATHEMATICAL ABILITY TESTS, MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY TEST AND ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TEST FOR MALE AND FEMALE PUPILS

TESTS	MA (N	MALES FEMALES $t - TES$ $(N = 362)$ $(N = 272)$		52'		
	ME AN	S.D	MEAN	<u>8.</u> D.	T VALUE	P
Mathematical Achieve- ment	14.7	5.9	11.4	5.7	7.10	.001
Arithmetic Reasoning	6.3	2.2	5.6	2.2	3.89	.001
Computation	12.9	2.0	12.1	2.5	4.86	.001
Whole Number Com- prehension	5.9	2.2	4.9	2.3	5.60	.001
Hidden Figures	3.3	2.0	3.0	1.7	2.03	.05
Foarm Board	3.9	2.7	2.8	2.5	4.90	.001
Five Dots	7.0	4.2	5.9	3.8	3.32	.001
Problem Solving	5.1	1.9	4.4	2.0	4.40	.001
Mathematical Ability Total	44.3	11.2	38.6	12.1	6.11	. 00 1
Mathematical Vocabulary	5.1	1.9	4,5	1.8	3.46	.001
English Language Proficiency	10.1	3.7	9.7	3.6	1.33	ns

Theoretical value considered for t = 1.56, t values greater than this significant at levels $p \leq .05$.

The results of the test for mean score differences in the tests for male and female pupils indicate significant differences at p<.001 except in the test of English Language Proficiency. All the differences were in favour of the male pupils. The male pupils consistently scored higher marks in all the Mathematical Ability tests, Mathematical Achievement test and Mathematical Vocabulary test. These result, suggest that male pupils were better than the female pupils in mathematics.

The finding that no significant differences existed between male and female pupils in the test on proficiency in English Language suggests that sex of pupil did not influence their level of proficiency in English Language. All the pupils male or female had an equal chance of scoring high marks in this test. On the average the male and female pupils had similar level of proficiency in English Language.

Although significant correlations were found between Mathematical Achievement test and English Language Proficiency test (See page 8)), this did not help much when it came to explaining sex differences found in Mathematical Achievement test scores, Mathematical Ability tests scores and Mathematical Vocabulary test scores.

This was mainly so because both males and females were found to be equivalent in their level of English Language Proficiency. In a way level of proficiency in English Language is not a significant factor in Mathematical Performance. Actually if proficiency in English Language was significant to Mathematical Performance then the male pupils would still perform better in it as they did in Mathematical Performance. However, the fact that the Mathematical Vocabulary of girls was lower than that of boys confirms the importance of Mathematical Vocabulary to Mathematical Performance. This implies that proficiency in English Language did not have a significant influence on Mathematical Performance.

4.3.4 Factors responsible for the variation in Mathematical Achievement.

The proposition here sought to establish which factors are responsible for the variation in Mathematical Achievement test scores.

Null Hypothesis IV

The variation in Mathematical Achievement test scores will not be fully accounted for by the Variables, Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency, Type of School, Sex of Pupil, Age, Class Repetition, After-School Coaching in Mathematics, and After-School Coaching in English, taken singly or taken all of them together.

The statistical procedure used in testing this hypothesis was the step-wise multiple regression analysis. This method identified which factor or factors were important to Mathematical Achievement. The factors found to be reponsible for the variation in Mathematical Achievement test scores would be the best predictors of Mathematical Achievement. Table 4.18 is a summary of the step-wise Multiple Regression Analysis. The table presents the results in order of the factors entered in the regression equation. The Multiple R and R^2 give the proportion of variance accounted for by the factor in question or a joint effect of two or more factors in the order they are entered in the regression equation.

TABLE 4.18

SUMMARY OF STEP-WISE MULTIPLE REGRESSION ANALYSIS ON MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST.

FACTORS IN THE ORDER ENTERED	MULTIPLE R	R ²	BETA
Whole Number Compre- hension Test	.62883	. 395 4 3	.20767
Computation Test	. 70350	.49491	.21168
Mathematical Vocabu- lary Test	.73877	.54578	.16861
Foarm Board Test	. 75780	.57426	.11921
Arithmetic Reasoning Test	. 76760	.58921	.09963
Sex of Pupil	.77238	. 59657	08494
English Language Proficiency Test	.77795	.60520	. 09 36 2
Coaching in English	. 78127	. 61038	.08000
Five Dots Test	. 78389	.61449	.07647
Problem Solving Test	.78588	. 61761	.07389
Hidden Figures	.78613	.61800	02064
Coaching Maths	.78633	.61832	
Type of School	.78646	. 61852	02319
Pupil's Age	.78661	.61876	.02044
If Repeater	.78664	.61880	.00745

Results of step-wise multiple regression analysis indicate that all the factors considered together accounted for 61.9 percent of the variation in Mathematical Achievement test scores. The first important single factor was Whole Number Comprehension test (39.5%). Subsequently the next significant factors acting jointly in order of preceeding factors were Computation test, Mathematical Vocabulary test, Foarm Board test, Arithmetic Reasoning test, Sex of pupil, English Language Proficiency test and After-School Coaching in English. All these eight factors were found together to account for 61 percent of the variation in Mathematical Achievement. The remaining factors including Five Dots test, Problem Solving test, Hidden Figures test, After-School Coaching in Mathematics, Pupil's Age and Class Repetition did not appear to have any significant contribution to performance in Mathematical Achievement test. While this was so it should be noted that about 38 percent of the variation in Mathematical Achievement test was still unaccounted for.

4.3.5 Summary of Findings

By way of summary the analysis carried out here revealed the following results:

- Mathematical Achievement test scores were found to correlate significantly with Mathematical Ability test scores, Mathematical Vocabulary test scores and English Language Proficiency test scores.
- 2. Concerning the comparision of pupils attending the different school types one-way ANOVA results indicated statistically significant differences in performance between these pupils, with the differences being in favour of pupils in High-Cost schools. An important point to mention here is that pupils attending Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools were found to differ significantly only in some tests but not in others.
- 3. When Male and Female pupils were compared in their performance in the tests by use of t-tests, statistically significant differences were revealed in all the tests except for a test on English Language Proficiency. This result showed that on the average Male and Female pupils have the same level of proficiency in English Language.

4. Finally it was found that 61.9% of the variation in Mathematical Achievement test scoreswas explainable by all the factors considered in the study. Out of these factors some had significant loading in Mathematical Achievement test scores than others. Effectively 61% of the variation was accounted for by the first eight factors in table 4.18. Clearly in this study 38% of the variation in Mathematical Achievement test scores were as yet unaccounted for.

4.4 Discussion

The statistical techniques used in the analysis of data were very useful in proving the hypothesis and hence the findings. The main focus for this study was on pupil's Mathematical Achievement. It would be reasonable to expect that what a pupil achieves in Mathematics after a given period of instruction would depend on a number of cognitive and environmental factors. In this context, the school influences on pupil Mathematical Achievement were investigated in an attempt to identify areas where pupils attending different types of schools would differ or be similar. 108 (ii)

Studies in Mathematical Ability have revealed that Mathematical Ability is composed of single factors which together in certain amounts reside in Human brain (Werdelin, 1958). It would therefore be reasonable to expect a very close link between pupil Mathematical Achievement and Pupil Mathematical Ability (Aiken, 1973). Wick (1965) attempted to establish the the relationship between the factored tests of Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Performance. His results indicated very low correlations showing that there was no correlation between Ability and Mathematical Achievement. The findings of this study demonstrated that the relationship between pupil Mathematical Ability and Pupil Mathematical Achievement was significant. Ability is a potential and therefore this strong relationship between pupil Ability and Achievement in Mathematics clearly shows that the pupils did achieve to their potential in Mathematics. It did not matter which type of school a pupil went to, or whether a pupil was male or female, what he or she achieved in mathematics was a reflection of his/her potential in Mathematics. As all pupils were not expected to score the same, any differences among the pupils would be attributed to individual differences. This is based on the assumption that a potential in Mathematics is normally distributed among the pupils.

When dealing with Mathematical Achievement of pupils the Influence of the terms specific to Mathematics, that is Mathematical Vocabulary, need to be considered. Likewise in a situation where the medium of instruction is a second language to the pupils and in most cases to the teachers as well, the effects of proficiency in English Language on pupil Mathematical Achievement must be looked into. The results of the relationship between pupil Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Vocabulary were in all cases found to be significant. Similar result was found for the relationship between Mathematical Achievement and Proficiency in English Language. These findings show that sound knowledge in Mathematical terms is important in aiding the understanding of the subject and therefore little knowledge of these terms could possibly contribute to poor performance in Mathematical Achievement tests. Along the same lines the degree of proficiency in the language used for instruction appears important. Although significant correlations were found between Mathematical Achievement tests and English Language Proficiency test, it was also found that vocabulary in mathematical terms was more important to Mathematical Performance. Competence in the language here should be biased to Mathematics since mathematics is composed of special terminology. Nevertheless the importance of the proficiency in English Language cannot be underestimated. The strong relationship between Mathematical Achievement tests scores

and English Language Proficiency test score found in this study confirms the importance. For pupils in Primary Schools who learn the English Language and are taught other subjects through English medium, it would be important to have a sound understanding of the English Language if they have to achieve well in the other subjects. It is possible ' that a low competence in English Language could handicap the level of performance and the amount of work one could do in a given subject. At the same time a high level of competency in English Language would serve as an advantage and an aid in understanding whatever is required in the course, given that the pupil is of average intelligence. The importance of Language to learning was realized when Vygotsky (1962) found that Language was important in concept formation. On Mathematics Aiken (1972) found that apart from being a Language on its own there was a close relationship between Mathematics and Language used in instruction. Hence the evidence revealed from the findings of this study points out that pupils who had relatively high scores on Mathematical Vocabulary test and English Language Proficiency test tended to have high scores on Mathematical Achievement test. However, Mathematical Vocabulary appeared more important than English Language Proficiency.

Although significant correlations were registered between Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Ability; Mathematical Achievement and Mathematical Vocabulary; Mathematical Achievement and English Language Proficiency over all the pupils, this finding did not provide enough information on how the school types, Low-Cost, Medium-Cost, and High-Cost schools compared and how the male and female pupils compared in terms of the magnitude of the test scores. An important objective in this study was to establish whether attending a given type of school would have an influence on the pupils' performance in Mathematics.

11

The study considered the three types of schools and carried out tests to establish if the pupils attending the three school types differed significantly in their performance in the tests. The results showed that the scores on all the tests, differed significantly among pupils attending the three types of school. Pupils in High-Cost schools had the highest scores compared to pupils in Medium-Cost and Low-Cost schools. But the scores of pupils in Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools when compared only differed significantly in some tests. The direct implication here was that pupils attending High-Cost schools were better than the other pupils in Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools. This fact though generally observed in the past examination results it has never

been established and as to which areas the differences occur has never been established as well. Somerset (1974) found that pupils in High-Cost schools tended to achieve higher than pupils in Low-Cost schools particularly in Mathematics. His explanation to this resulted from an item analysis of C.P.E. 1971 Mathematics Paper where he found that most of the questions in the paper tended to favour pupils from High-Cost schools. Similarly summary of examination results compiled every year by the Examination Council consistently show high average scores in Mathematics from High-Cost schools. It should be noted that the terms Low-Cost, Medium-Cost and High-Cost schools do not necessarily refer to cost incurred by parents but more on cost of facilities in the school. The area which has not been investigated by the researchers in this field is the one concerned with identifying the cause of the differences, and whether the pupil performanceswere true reflection of pupils' ability.

The finding of statistically significant differences in scores of pupils from Low-Cost, Medium-Cost and High-Cost schools particularly in all the seven Mathematical Ability tests was striking. On the average pupils from High-Cost schools had higher scores. It would be expected that pupil potential in Mathematics would remain relatively

1 L L 1

constant over the whole range of school types, but the results indicated that pupils attending High-Cost schools had their Mathematical Ability more developed than the others. This result contradicts the view held by many researchers in this field that ability is an innate potential which develops naturally with time but has a ceiling which varied from one individual to another.

This fact presumes that

- 1. Mathematical Ability is normally distributed .
- After seven years of schooling the level of development of ability in the three school types may reach the same point.

However, this is not so in this study. Although the subjects of this study were from a random sample of schools, : • the differences among the pupils occurred because;

1. The school environments did not provide the learning conditions to enable development of ability to full potential for some pupils. Given the fact that the schools differed in the quality of staff, school equipment, class amenities, teacher-pupil ratio, conditions of radmission,:, age at enrolment, seating arrangement, etc.

 Some pupils were pre-selected from nursery schools for the best schools.

Though the pupils attending these schools could have natural similarity in their abilities the environment through which they operate was bound to have an influence. Regarding Mathematical Ability of school children, Krutetskii (1976) and Werllelin (1958) observed that the development of Mathematical Ability was influenced by classroom instruction. Mathematical games and out of class experiences involving mathematically related tasks. An interpretation of this view would imply that pupil potential in Mathematics would only be realized fully if the conditions within school environment are favourable, otherwise this potential will remain dormant. Thus pupils who attended schools which did not have all the necessary requirements lacked some of the experiences which would help them develop their Mathematical Ability and therefore they underachieved. In actual fact this latent ability would remain dormant completely until a favourable atmosphere avails itself. Wamani (1980) had similar findings although his subjects were of standard 3 - 5 level.

The results indicating that pupils from High-Cost schools on the average performed better than pupils in Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools in all the tests deserve some scrutiny. An explanation of these differences would call for a critical analysis of the quality of the schools, the learning environment, pupils home background (Socioeconomic status). Facts from studies on intelligence indicate that the intelligence quotient (IQ) is normally distributed among people. This would imply that if admission into these three school types is not based on a test of mental ability then no significant differences would be expected among the scores of pupils. The resultsof this study have revealed significant differences in the scores of pupils in these categories of schools. A similar result was found by Wamani (1980) who observed that some schools in Nyeri Distirct consistently out scored others every year in C.P.E. results. An explanation to such differences could be sought in terms of school characteristics and pupil home background. The majority of the pupils who attend High-Cost schools are from homes where parents are literate, well to do and are ready to pay fees for the education of their children. Such parents value education and therefore provide their children with books, proper study places and also take keen interest on the progress of their children.

The schools where they take their children are the ones which are fully established and provide enough of what is required for proper learning. In these schools, admission is granted under very strict conditions. The pupils must have passed through a prominent nursery school and must be about six years of age. The school itself is equiped with highly qualified staff, teaching aids, books and stationery and wellplanned classrooms with proper seating arrangement. The teacher-pupil ratio is on the average one to 35. This kind of environment is very suitable for any learning process and the pupils are able to develop as fast as they possibly can. Such an atmosphere would itself be very motivating to the pupils as well as the teachers.

On the other extreme the pupils attending Low-Cost schools come from very poor home backgrounds where many parents are illiterate or semi-literate. These parents are predominantly agrarian and show very little interest in the education of their children. All that these parents do is to allow their children to go to school but with frequent interruptions when their services are required at home. Much to do with the education of the children is between the pupils and the school. With no proper study places at home, the pupils have no motivation to study. On the other hand the school is very poorly equipped, very few books, majority of staff unqualified, etc.

The classrooms are congested on the average 50 pupils per class and on very few desks. The pupils on admission to the school need not have passed through a nursery school and the pupil's age at admission is not taken seriously. Thus adding to the fact that these pupils also attend school on and off, by the time they come to standard seven they are of varied ages. An analysis of our study sample presented on table 3.1 revealed that by standard seven 93% of pupils in High-Cost schools were of age less than 14.5 years while in Medium-Cost schools 66% and Low-Cost schools 38% were below that age. Much of the age range in Low-Cost schools is also contributed by the fact that so many pupils repeat classes, often more than once. In table 3.1 it is also shown that in High-Cost schools, 33.6% of the pupils had repeated at least a class, compared to 68% in Medium-Cost schools and 75% in Low-Cost schools.

Generally if considerations are given to the school and the pupils home background then what clearly comes out is that some pupils are at an advantage over others. This fact is very clear from the sharp differences that exist between the school types and the home backgrounds of pupils attending the schools.

These two main factors considered here are bound to affect and influence what the pupils achieve in the various subjects. Even by considering the language for communication, the pupils from the rich backgrounds through experience at home and in the nursery school will have attained some degree of proficiency in English as opposed to the other pupils who will be in the process of learning the language. This could actually affect how they understand the subjects. Moreover teaching methods vary with level of training. The main struggle by the school types is for academic excellence in the National Examination (C.P.E.) which is the determinant of an upward mobility in education (ILO, 1972), that is, proceeding to secondary education.

Although the child from the rich home has better chances of success, there is no guarantee to the success. Many parents especially the literate ones pay extra fees for private after-school coaching of their children. The figures presented on table 3.1, show that on the average 62% of pupils in High-Cost schools go for after-school coaching as compared to 37 percent in Medium-Cost and 43% in Low-Cost schools. Though the relationship between After-school coaching in Mathematics and Mathematical Achievement was not sought, it is however a clear indication that the literate parents do understand what education means and have a strong need for their children to proceed on

with their education. In such a situation it would not be a simple matter to establish the view held by the poor parents as concerns education because they have certain limitations. In a way the arguments presented here suggest with alot of caution that if two pupils with the same potential are educated under these varied conditions one would achieve higher than the other. This however, would not mean that he/she is better than the other since if educated under similar conditions they could achieve the same. The differences registered in the scores of pupils in the school types are therefore not a reflection on differences in pupils' potential but rather a reflection on the quality differences in the learning environment and experience the schools provide.

Another area dealt with in this study was on the performance differences of male and female pupils in Mathematics. The result indicated that male pupils performed better than female pupils in Mathematical Ability Tests, Mathematical Achievement Tests and Mathematical Vocabulary Tests. But in English Language Proficiency there were no such differences. This result is similar to the earlier research findings by many researchers which also revealed such sex differences. The fact that differences still occurred in Mathematical performance even when the level of proficiency in English Language was similar between male

and female pupils served to strengthen the belief in sex differences in Mathematics. Attempt to explain the sex differences in Mathematical performance has been made by many researchers. Explanations have covered a variety of areas involving personality, masculine interest and scientific career interest (Aiken, 1970; Astin, 1974; Maritim, 1970; Carey, 1958; Milton, 1957). Other explanations have centered on attitudes toward mathematics (Eshiwani, 1974; Sheikh, 1976). By considering the methods of teaching Mathematics Eshiwani (1974) also found that when females are taught Mathematics through programmed instruction they tended to have scores comparable to the males. The issue of sex-differences in general has also been tackled by researchers such as Macéoby (1974), Fennema (1978, 1981).

In this study, the correlation analysis showed that for all pupils the relationship between Mathematical Achievement test scores and Mathematical Ability test scores were significant. This indicated that whatever the male and female pupils achieved in Mathematics was a result of their ability. The school environments in which both the female and male students were operating were quite similar. Both the sexes were almost in the same proportion in each of the school types see table 3.1.

Maritim (1979) explained such gap in school performance between boys and girls to lie in their differences in academic self perception. His explanation appeared to be closely linked with the one of attitude towards mathematics. Here the females view themselves as being incapable of doing mathematics and therefore form a very negative attitude. towards the subject. This study as already mentioned found that even in Mathematical Ability tests the boys still performed better. It would therefore appear that without even making serious attempts the majority of females have learnt to give up at the slightest difficulty encounter d in solving a Mathematical problem. Therefore however much the males excel females in mathematics it should not be viewed as an indication of inferiority on females. The guidance provided by roles and norms could also have an influence on the female pupil performance in mathematics. The types of roles expected of females do not rigidly require mathematics as a pre-requisite as do males On such grounds the females give up and work hard in subjects related to their future roles such as Domestic Science and the Arts Subjects.

Along with the above explanation importance must be attached to the teachers as well as single sex or co-educationnal schools. The attitudes held against the girls as concerns Mathematics by the teachers are bound to influence the kind of interaction between the female pupils and the teachers. Maritim (1979) found that where girls had low academic self perception of their abilities, in corresponding areas the teachers had low perception of girls abilities. The extent of this association could be strengthened by the sex of the mathematics teacher. The kind of interaction between a male teacher and a female pupil might be different from that between a female teacher and a female pupil. At the same time the kind of classroom situation where the pupils sit to be taught might have some influence depending on whether the school is co-educational or single sex. When girls sit in class with boys, there is a possibility of girls giving up to the boys on Mathematics and therefore achieving lower than them. Observations show that girls learning in single sex schools are almost comparable to boys in Mathematical Performance (Eshiwani, 1974).

Another important point in explaining the differences is to do with the stage of development. According to Brown (1957) and Rabban (1950), roles become more clear with age and this ends the riggar in doing subjects that are thought

to be male dominant by females. At puberty the girl becomes fully aware of herself as feminine person with a definite feminine role to adopt. If this role appears to include a rejection of Mathematics and to a lesser but potent extent scientific interests then she will react accordingly. The majority of pupils considered in this study were over 13 years of age which is puberty stage. Wamani (1980) found in his study that no sex differences in performance in Mathematics were observed from pupils of 11 years and below. Similar results have been reported in the past. These reasons provided here suggest that there is alternative explanation to the sex differences in Mathematical Performance. Therefore it would not be resonable to view such differences as females being inferior to males in Mathematics.

Mathematical Achievement in this study was viewed to depend on a number of factors. This meant that any variation in Mathematical Achievement could be explained in terms of the independent contributions of the factors considered. The factors that had significant contribution were Computation Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, Spatial Ability, Arithmetic Reasoning Ability, Sex of pupil and Proficiency in English Language. These factors as already mentioned earlier account^{ed} for 61% of the variation in Mathematical Achievement.

The other factors did contribute but not significantly; therefore any prediction equation would be composed of the factors mentioned above. This finding indicate that a sound knowledge in Computation, Mathematical Vocabulary, Spatial Orientation, Arithmetic Reasoning and Proficiency in English Language would make a pupil excel in addition to sex of pupil. The differences registered among High-Cost, Medium-Cost and Low-Cost schools could be explained in terms of sound development of such skills. It would appear therefore that these skills are far more developed in High-Cost schools than in the other schools, so that they consistently have high achievement in mathematics. It is possible the other pupils from Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools could equally develop the skills if given the opportunity.

This discussion thus far presented can be summarised by pointing out that even though pupils in High Cost schools had better performance in all areas tested than pupils in Low-Cost and Medium-Cost schools, this was more to the schools than to the pupils. The three school types differed in many aspects which considered together could influence and promote whatever the pupils achieved. The poor maintenance in Low-Cost and to some extent in Medium-Cost schools as compared to the well established High-Cost schools could account for the differences in performance by the pupils.

To that extent pupils in Low-Cost and Medium-Cost could be viewed to have the potential which is not developed to the full. The results of sex differences in Mathematical performance and not significantly in other areas is an indication that there could be other reasons for it, not necessarily question of inability: . Further research is required in this area.

In summary, the discussion of the findings revealed the following points.

1. Pupil performance was found to be influenced by the quality of teaching and learning environment. Both these depend on the level of training of the teachers and the facilities and equipment necessary for teaching and learning in the school.

2. Although achievement in Mathematics was found to depend on pupils' ability in Mathematics, it was also found that Mathematical Vocabulary was very important for the level of Achievement in Mathematics.

The ability to manipulate space was not well

3.

developed in the pupils. The possible reason was that pupils lacked enough experience with tasks involving space.

4. Although some explanations for sex differences in Mathematical performance have been provided, they are not conclusive, so further research is still required.

Based on these points, a few recommendations will be made.

The next chapter will discuss the limitations, implications and recommendations of the study. It will also discuss the directions for future research and a conclusion.

CHAPTER FIVE

LIMITATIONS, IMPLICATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter will present the limitations of the study, implications, recommendations and directions for future research.

5.1 Limitations of the study

In any social research there will undoubtedly be errors of various kinds in the data. There will also be the inevitable sampling errors which cannot be avoided easily.

One of the limitations in this study was the generalization of the results to other settings. The main point here was to do with the size of the sample considered as compared to the size of the population of all standard seven children .in Kenya, which was in the tune of hundreds of thousands. If such a comparison was made then the study would not hold its worth. However, the results of such a study served as an indication to the state of events.

It was noted that a study relating to school achievements would need to cover all the curriculum areas to be able to discover factors influencing school achievement. This study by nature and purpose, restricted itself to mathematics. However, it was recognized that a wider study covering all the areas would provide more concrete information on the determinants of school achievement.

Implications of the study.

2

The implications of the present results 4vt fairly straightforward. The past researchers (King, 1974; Somerset, 1974) argued that the pupils' success and failure in C.P.E. depended on the quality of the school and the quality of the teachers. The main reason behind their argument was that the rural children were the victims of poor environment and poor teaching. These findings appeared quite realistic and acceptable. In addition this present study went further to investigate how pupils' achievement in mathematics related to their ability in mathematicg and the nature of the differences that occurred among pupils attending the different schools. The results implied that poor environment and poor teaching retarded the development of pupils' abilities thus resulting in poor achivement.

Although there had been very few researchers probing into the qualities of staff and facilities in the schools in

relation to student performance, it still appeared convincing that what the school had to offer to the pupils in terms of teaching and facilities to aid in learning and development of necessary skills did make a significant difference. It was clear from some studies, that teaching methods were very crucial to higher achievements in the related subjects (Eshiwani, 1974). As a(ready mentioned, being in a school of high quality was to a great extent influenced by pupils' home background. This did imply that the pupil's home background. was significant to his/her performance at school.

As for sex differences in Mathematical Performance many research findings have revealed that male students performed better than female students. Although girls on the average never do as well as boys in mathematics, it is possible that the problem is a psychological, social and cultural one and is not of a lack of ability or potential in mathematics. However, the poor performance in mathematics by females still deserve; scrutiny to establish where it originates from, its causes and how it develops.

5.3 Recommendations

From the findings of this study the following recommendations are made.
5.3.1 Improvement of Learning Facilities and Environment in Medium and Low-Cost Schools.

> Many schools were found to have the majority of the teaching staff unqualified. In these schools most of the school equipment was lacking as well. Since better learning requires conducive atmosphere with exposure to the necessary skills using best teaching methods, it would be important to uplift the schools by increasing the number of qualified teaching staff and the necessary school equipment including text books. It is a fact that teacher efficiency depends upon the training and the teaching aid-equipments. It is viewed that if the schools could have all the necessary school equipment, qualified teaching staff and improved tuition blocks to provide for conducive learning atmosphere, then the pupils could probably develop fully their abilities and achieve at higher levels.

5.3.2 Mathematical Vocabulary

The results of this study revealed that knowledge of the common mathematical terms was very important in the learning of mathematics. It is therefore recommended that when teachers are trained on the methodology of teaching

mathematics, special emphasis should be laid on the common but important Mathematical Vocabulary and terms. This would be important since in teaching mathematics, if the pupils have to be clear in their minds about what is taught, then the mathematical concepts must be explained clearly. Formation of concepts can be further strengthened by using mathematical models, by giving wider opportunities of using and applying the concepts. Proficiency with mathematical terms was found to bear significant relationship with Mathematical Achievement.

5.3.3 Special Emphasis on Development of Spatial Ability.

This was the only one of the composites of Mathematical Ability which had insignificant correlation with Mathematical Achievement. This ability involved manipulation of space, including Three-Dimensional experience, Geometrical Constructions, Mathematical Models, Tangrams and other practical experiences involving space. It appeared that this aspect of mathematics has been given very little attention. It is therefore recommended that special emphasis should be put on space understanding and orientation (Geometry). Teachers should be well trained to be aware of this important aspect of mathematics and the best method of teaching it.

5.4 Directions for Future Research.

Educational problems of learning and teaching are very complex and more information, further evidence and new insight from research programmes are always welcome to help educationists and psychologists to set better understanding. School performance is affected by many factors that interact with one another. It is difficult in any given research like this to identify all the factors, but data are now available only on isolated factors that have been shown to affect achievement test performance. The combination of these isolated factors shed some light on our understanding of school performance and Mathematical Achievement in particular.

Further research is required to reveal the possible interactional effects between Mathematical Ability, Mathematical Vocabulary, English Language Proficiency and Type of School. The present data did not provide information about the actual experiences and activities that the children are exposed to in the classroom as well as out of the classroom, teacher-pupil interactions and methods of teaching adopted by the different teachers in the three categories of schools. This study only established the score differences among the pupils which was a result of whatever experiences, activities and methods of teaching.

In actual fact there would be a need to carry out studies to provide more information on main factors within the school environment which contribute significantly to Mathematical Achievement and are responsible for the differences.

Sex differences in almost every aspect of human behaviour have been consistently observed, and the most widely accepted explanation for this is that boys and girls are exposed to different experiences during socialization (Maccoby, 1966). Cross cultural evidence reveals that socialization influences how a child acts, feels and thinks (Whiting and Whiting, 1968). On school achievement tasks, it has been demonstrated that boys and girls tend to achieve higher scores on tasks that are stereotypically and culturally perceived as appropriate to their sex differences in performance and that the sex-typed socialization practices constrain the child's development of sense of competency in specific areas of study he/she perceives are not appropriate to his/her sex. More research is therefore needed to reveal more reasons for sex differences. It would also be important to determine at what age and stage such sex differences in mathematics appear. Even in the teaching process, the teacher-pupil interaction especially between male teachers and female pupils, and female teachers and male pupils should be

investigated. The sex differences in mathematics need to be identified at their earliest stage so that programs to minimize them can be developed.

5.5 Conclusion

When human beings are subjected to different learning environments, the experiences of these environments lead to the development of different cognitive skills and personality characteristics. In our society today, the schools hold the responsiblity of nurturing talent in the pupils and helping them in the process of instruction to develop certain desirable skills. It is on the level of competence in the required skills that decisions are made about the pupils for the next stage of formal education. The quality of the cognitive skills and personality a characteristics, and their desirability must be related to the needs of the society.

Although the main function of the school is to help develop talent of the pupils through curricular demands, it also creates inequality through the screening process such as achievement tests (C.P.E.) that are developed to halt mass access to the few available positions in the society.

The latter function can cause a very serious damage to some pupils especially if the schools are not equivalent in standard, that is teaching and learning environment. This fact is clear from the fact that even though there are individual differences among pupils, if in the process of nurturing talent , which is normally accomplished through classroom instruction and curriculum contents some pupils are exposed to better learning facilities, wider experiences, better instruction, etc, than others, then obviously they have to lead in the achievement tests and get access to the fewer places.

Although it is admitted that school performance is a multi-dimensional concept, that is, there are multiple contributing factors that interact to unknown degree, the present data have shed some light on the significant influence of the type of school a pupil attends. This suggests that when considering pupil performance, the type of school he was attending must not be ignored especially in a situation where there is a high variation of the schools.

Educators are always keen on knowing the factors affecting the pupils' achievement so that if they can be identified then they can attempt to minimize the variance in pupils' achievement and optimize the available resources.

Along with the other factors, we have the evidence that factors within the school environment contribute significantly to pupils' achievement.

In conclusion, this Study has shown that the quality of a school makes a difference in pupils performance. So if the variance in school achievement among pupils has to be minimized then the schools have to be of equivalent level of maintenance. In addition to this, significant differences in performance between males and females in certain subject areas would call for further research where they occur for either sex.

APPENDIX A

- 1. RESEARCH CLEARANCE LETTER
- 2. RESEARCH PERMIT
- 3. A LETTER FROM MUNICIPAL EDUCATION OFFICER , KISUMU
- 4. LETTER TO PRIMARY SCHOOL HEADS

the stip hand and an and a balance provide with

the improvement of the meridine second of the

5. PROGRAM FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TEST BATTERIES.

the there apolication for eathering to contail generate any



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT

P.O. Box 30510 NAIROBI, KENYA

3rd February 1981

Nairobi Nairobi 27411 OP-13/001/10C 384/4 No. and date

> Mr. Raphael J. A. Kapiyo, Kenyatta University College, NAIROBI.

Dear Size

RESEARCH CLEARANCE

Your application for authority to conduct research ons "An investigation into the relationship between Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement of Primary Seven", has been received and it is being processed.

In meantime you are hereby authorized to go to Kisumu District for your preliminary inquiry.

Yours faithfully,

E.K. EUCHIAMI for: PERMANENT SECRETARY/CABINET AFFAIRS

C.C.

The Perminent Secretary, Ministry of Basic Education NAIROBL.

The Secretary, National Council for Science and Technology, NAIROBL.

NOTES

- 1. Government Officers will not be interviewed without prior appointment.
- 2. No questionnaire will be used unless it has been approved.
- J. You must report to the District Commissioner of the area before embarking on your research.

4 Excavation, filming and collection of biological apecimens are subject to further permission from the relevant Government Ministries.

5. The Government of Kenys reserves the right to modify the conditions of this permit including its cancellation without netice.

CPK 1869-20-10/78



REPUBLIC OF KENYA

RESEARCH CLEARANCE

PAGE 2

PAGE 3



MUNICIPALITY OF KISUMU

Tal. Nos: Kisumu Office 2251 - 55

MEO/26/VOL.1/195

where with a work

Your Rofs

our Ref;



Jour Hall Court Read 9. Q. Bar 105 Kinow Konyo

11th February, 1981.

../140

Headmasters/mistresses, Municipal Primary Schools, KISUMU.

RE: MR. R.J.A. KAPIYO:

The bearer wishes to carry out research relating to his Studies at the University of Nairobi.

Kindly afford him available facilities to do this at your school.

ODUC MUNICIPAL EDUCATION OFFICER

VJO/jaw.

KENYATTA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE (DEPARIMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY)

TO ·

P.O. Box 43844, NAIROBI.

I am writing to inform you that I have been granted the authority to carry out a research study in Kenya by the President's Office. Your school has randomly been chosen as one of the sites for the study. This is a scientific educational research to be carried out in my personal capacity, with the support of Kenyatta University College, Department of Educational Psychology, Nairobi. The study is designed to investigate into the relationship between Mathematical Ability and Mathematical Achievement of Standard Seven pupils of Kenya. It is hoped that the results of the study may be of help to teachers, parents, pupils and curriculum planners of Kenyan primary schools.

The main purpose for writing this letter is to inform you that I will visit your school any time starting from February to March, 1981. During this visit which is expected to take two consecutive days, several tests will be administered to Standard Seven pupils. Your cooperation will be of utmost importance.

Thanking you in advance for your attention to this matter.

Yours sincerely,

AAchollah

RALPHAEL J.A. KAPIYO

KENYATTA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE (DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY)

PROGRAM FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TEST BATTERIES

It is expected that if all is to go well then all the testing will take a whole working day as is indicated below, otherwise we proceed for half day the next day.

Important instructions for the tests will be read aloud and written on the blackboard before the test. For example: The pupils will be required to have a pencil and rubber before the test.

Time Schedule:

8.15 a.m.	- 10.15 a.m.:	MATHEMATICAL ABILITY TESTS.
10.30 a.m.	- 12.30 a.m.:	MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST.
*		LUNCH BREAK
2.10 p.m.	- 2.30 p.m::	MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY TEST.
2.40 p.m.	- 4.00 p.m.:	ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TEST.

If the above cannot be accomplished in one day then we shall proceed to the next day.

APPENDIX B

1. MATHEMATICAL ABILITY TESTS

(a)

14

(1)	ARITHMETIC REASONING TEST
(11)	COMPUTATION TEST
(111)	WHOLE NUMBER COMPREHENSION TEST
(iv)	HIDDEN FIGURES TEST
(v)	FOARM BOARD TEST
(vi)	FIVE DOTS TEST
(vii)	PROBLEM SOLVING TEST

(b) STUDENT IDENTIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE

2. MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST

- 3. MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY TEST
 - 4. ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TEST.

ARITHMETIC REASONING

INSTRUCTIONS

The second second second

96

(8

12

65.

Sama M

BLYLG

()

S.102 * 0.2 abry in

7.11.55 1

This section consists of problems in arithmetic. However, you do not have to find the answer to each problem. You only have to tell how the answer could be found.

EXAMPLE O.

111 V 1-

the second second and the base structure of the second the marry marries thread a Jane's father was 26 years old when she was born. Jane is 8 years old. How old is her father now?

- (. 1.08 (11 Stangt dits. (A) Subtract 6. TULISION (B) Divide (5) , nb
- (C) Add
- (D) Multiply interest prove to an are strongly seen to an

Jane's father is now 34 years old. But, you are not asked to find this. You are asked how to find this. Since his age is found by adding 28 and 8, choice (C) should be circled. 9501220M (F.

EXAMPLE OO

Desks are priced at Shs. 40/- each. If bought in lote of 4, the total price is reduced by Shs. 20/-- How much pould 4 desks cost?

it is all the camp, had many dampure and which (A) Divide and add

56A (B) Multiply and multiply 2115 29 180 (C) Subtract and divide

- (D) Multiply and subtract

One way to solve the problem would be to multiply Shs. 40/- by 4 and subtract 20 from the product. So you should circle choice (D).

the second se Although some problems may be worked in more than one way, only one of the ways will be given among the answer choices.

You should only guess if you can rule out some of the choices. DO NOT guess wildly. obA 121 -told MM

(0)

DOTT THE

You will have 15 minutes for this section. If you finish before time is called, check you work.

145

For each question choose the correct answer from those given and mark the correct answer on the answer sheet.with an X. DO NOT WRITE ON THIS QUESTION PAPER.

LYANPEE O.

1. There are 4 quarts in a gallon and 4 cups in a quart.

How many cups are there in a gallon?

- A) add.
- B) Subtract (A)
- C) Multiply
- D) Divide.

(a) Maintain

CC BURNNES

(5)

(0)

1.1

., biv 1

(8)

(0)

2. An electric planer is set to remove .02 of a centimetre each time a piece of wood is passed through it. If a board is put through 7 times, how much wood will have been removed? Statistic sta

- A) Multiply
- B) Subtract
- C) Divide
- D) Add.

Let off and the small holiday camp. If there are 33 boys attending the camp, how many campers are girls?

hbs has shivin (M)

A) Add

· slivib bac touridue (0)

Maltiply and cupturet

Multiply and sultiply

- B) Multiply
- C) Subtract

One way to solve the problem would be to multiply Dhe. ebivid . (C

A man wants to seed a lawn around his new home. His lot is 120 metra by 90 metre (10, 800 sq. metre). His house is centered on the lot and occupies 2,785 square metre. How many square metre of ground may be put into lawn?

A) Add C) Multiply guess first out the choice.

B) Divide D) Subtract

A wholesale fruit dealer sells cranges at Shs. 7 per kilo and lemons at 5. 3 Shs. per kilo. One day he sold 79 kilos of each type of fruit. How much money was taken in? increase the antimercal (1) Add and divide B) Add and multiply instruction of Elvid 62 C) Multiply and subtract Schrack and a little 63 D) Divide and divide S Pro . (.) The Standard 6. A cyclist in an international bicycle race has covered an average of 9 kilometres every 20 minutes. If he can maintain the same average speed, how long will it take him to cycle the remaining 84 kilometres of the race? the reservoir, but a drought in Jonne re odd 8 metra. Approx-mately how many liter. HL BUF Divide and multiply A) the drought? B) Subtract and divide C) Add and subtract Subtruct and divide 16 D) Divide and add. the state for both 10 whet there is no other id-61 A grocer sells oranges for 60 cents a dozen. The oranges cost him 7. 30 cents a dozen. How much profit is there on each orange? , or hand 11. A certain part of beel costs Sha. 20 month Subtract and multiply a no set of set of set a blues A) B) .10 Divide and subtract spend Shs. 20/60 for the peef? C) Add and divide D) Subtract and divide starts bre saive (3 T E Sale Shelt Like 8.

- 116 -

A boy works in a shop after school for a total of 10 hours a week. He also works 8 hours on Saturdays. How much is he being paid per hour, if he makes Shs. 20/70 per week?

A) Multiply and subtract
 B) Add and divide

C) Add and divide

- D) Add and multiply
- a) Superior and divide
 b) Machine and supercet
 - elivib ba rbA (?

the Les bivig. (A

9. A housewife took a job which pays Shs. 65/00 per week. After paying taxes she is left with 76% of her salary, and each week she spends a total of shs. 56/00 on lunches and bus fares. How much does her job increase the family income? biv 5 bas bbi Ch.

- What we bas ish. 641 A) Divide and subtract JOGTICUS Dis TITLON () B) Subtract and multiply (1) divit for shivit
- C) Add and divide

Multiply and subtract D) to a boy a way the second from the of the second states at the second . C.

- A rectangular underground reservoir is 15 metre deep and contains 2,000,000 litres of water, when it is full. The short rains filled the reservoir, but a drought in January caused the water level to drop 8 metre. Approximately how many litres of water were consumed during Vigitin datas stiviQ the drought?
 - shivle bus tosydder. 31
 - () Add and subtract
 - 6.3 . Le Sus obsvid

B) Add and subtract

Subtract and divide

- C) Divide and multiply
- Subtract and multiply. 12:11 D) where a distance is all no inclused and be shown
- 11. A certain part of beef costs Shs. 7/50 per kilogramme. How much beef could a mother serve to each of 5 children, if she could only afford to sortion bra stavia spend Shs. 20/00 for the beef?
 - 63 Add and divide

(3)

0)

Supremor and livide (1

stivib bas bbs

Add and multiply

- A) Divide and divide
- (2 Multiply and add
- A boy works in a shop wither school . 8 C) Subtract and multiply allo water & gours in Saturdays. 10 Divide and multiply. Second root of Standard and at a

12. A coat marked Shs. 40/- was sold for Shs. 23/95 during a sale. What tornaduro b.u. gargio Tulk \$.! was the per cent reduction? abivib has thA (b

- Divide and add
- B) Subtract and divide
- C) Multiply and subtract
- D) Add and divide

10

A)

A)

- 13. At the beginning of a month, a car rental organization rented 37 cars. During the month, 32 or these cars were returned. If, at the end of the month, 43 of their cars were being rented, how many new rontals had been made?
 - A) Subtract and divide
 - B) Subtract and subtract
 - C) Add and subtract
 - D) Multiply and add.
- 14. A corporation duoubled its assets by selling 1,000 shares of stock at Shs. 75/- per share. What were the corporation's total assets after the stock had been sold?
 - A) Multiply and divide
 - B) Add and multiply
 - C) Add and subtract
 - D) Multiply and multiply.
- 15. A certain mother generally squeezes 1½ oranges for a glass of orange juice. The average cost of the oranges she bought during one year was 40 cents per orange. Approximately how much did it cost the family for the 827 glasses of juice that they drank during the year?
 - A) Multiply and subtract
 - B) Add and divide
 - C) Multiply and multiply
 - D) Divide and multiply.

STOP

IF YOU FINISH BEFORE TIME IS CALLED? CHECK YOUR WORK.

COMPUTATION

· end i i a · · · · ·

This scale is intended to measure ability to add subtract, multiply and divide whole numbers and to add or subtract simple fractions.

... INSTRUCTIONS

There are 15 questions in this section. Write the answer to each of the questions on the answer sheet. DO NOT WRITE ON THE QUESTION SHEET. ROUGH PAPER FOR WORKING IS PROVIDED.

1.5

a Diam's a l'

You will have 15 minutes for this section

the state of

DO NOT TURN THIS PAGE UNTIL YOU ARE ASKED TO DO SO.

the sky

			150			
PLEASE	DO NOT WE	RITE ON THIS	PAPER	9.1		
13 - 8	=	- 12	1	2. 7×4=		
			1.1.20 1.1.1		·r	
						1 de
	.u					
			1			
9 + 5 ·	+ 8 =		1	424 - 6	=	
	10022	-				
	. Pringites	a mais of the	13.1.2.	Lin Br Deri		
	12. 126.) set al 11	10% 322% -70	· Canal A	a reaction -	alt and a
103			6	ATTVCAT	6	- 4210° (F
+ 7	(let	1 100		* * 8	5	
-		1 6	olitoria aling	An porture	No. 21 CO. L.	an in a
		100				
		, 01.Cr.0	LANA SEA DE	1 1 33	d allow more	1990 114
378			8.	56		
63 504				<u>x 3</u>		·
-)		
32						
12			10	72		
				- 05		
0.01						
- 49		-0.0	12	600		
				- 123		

- 2 -

13 2) 412

14. 1/4 + 2/4 =

.

15. 1 - 1/3 =

100 - I State State State State State hollfla en -varia kj (B) size all'iton one hundred thousand (C) Kinet V-Che Cherant ill all ety-cas builded finderits SHI FROM MITTERIOT 34 10 2 - -2107 - (JA (JA - 1) (-) 1. 23) (4 x 306) + (7 x 21 terbatian schol at (Y a C -54 14 121 1093 × 44 13-0 DO N . ĉ 202 בה ידור שנו היירוסה פר היית, אין העובן היירא כה דיין א Here a start were shown for the start the start Las C. + teans - + (startin d t) + C & (C. then the factor Contention File Ton 121 There are a set a tebenhard a for the interaction of a set a set a set 1-1

WHOLE NUMBER COMPREHENSION

AMEDE

All the questions in this section must be answered on the answer sheet that you will be given by your teacher. Mark with an "X" the correct answer. 028 DO NOT WRITE ANYTHING ON THE QUESTION PAPER. SIV

en ser tra part there are 12 questions on muchars and how up

the light to be a set of the on

- - -

22.5

1000

(0) 958 8:0.1 3.622.

If all alteres much the

The answer is 3. See how build a has been X 10: 27. 0. No. chese problems, you will easie all of your loaders on

the thouse Shoat. Is careful that, you mark the entredt . TOLIGAND DEES . TOT TOLIGA

You are to work as many questions as gou onn. So sobtino block not inditesup and the no shir down bot bas at The of resident and to some out and the sholees. The

In this part there are 12 questions on numbers and how we write them.

Here is an example to show how you should mark your card.

Example 0. Subtract 607 from 1,725 (A) 819 (B) 918 (C) 928 (D) 1,018 (E) 1,622

The answer is B. See how bubble B has been Marked with X for Ex. 0.

For these problems, you will mark all of your answers on the Answer Sheet. Be careful that you mark the correct Answer for each question.

You are to work as many questions as you can. Do not spend too much time on any one question. You should only guess if you can rule out some of the choices. DO NOT guess wildly.

You will have 20 minutes for this section.

miles. How should this number be said:

- (A) ninety-one million
- (B) nine million one hundred thousand
- (C) ninety-one thousand
- (D) ninety-one billion
- (E) pinety-one hundred thousands
- Which of the following shows the correct meaning of 407?
 - (A) $(1 \times ten) + (7 \times one)$
 - (B) $(4 \times one) + (7 \times ten)$
 - (C) $(4 + 0 + 7) \times (\text{one hundred})$
 - (D) $(4 \times one) + (0 x \tan) + (7 \times \tan x \tan)$
 - (E) $(4 \times ten \times ten) + (0 \times ten) + (7 \times one)$
- 3.

1 ...

400

<u>-199</u> 201

In this subtraction problem, we must borrow or regroup. Which statement below shows how to do it for this problem?

(A) 400 = (3 hundreds) + (9 tens) + (9 ones)
(B) 400 = (3 hundreds) + (9 tens) + (10 ones)
(C) 400 = (3 hundreds) + (10 tens) + (9 ones)
(D) 400 = (3 hundreds) + (10 tens) + (10 tens)
(E) 400 = (5 hundreds) - (9 tens) - (10 ones)

4. On the blackboard Joe read the warning: A MISPLACED DECIMAL POINT MEANS A LARGE MISTAKE! How does a misplaced decimal point change a number?

- (A) One place too far to the right makes the number
 10 times too large
- (B) One place too far to the right subtracts 1 from the number
- (C) One place too far to the left subtracts 1 from the number
- (D) One place too far to the left makes the number one-half as large

(__)

. 64

10. 4

(E) One place too far to the left makes the number
 10 times too large

A bank clerk reports that he has 10,000 One hundred shillings notes. How much money does he have?
 (A)SA,1,000

12412000 381 00 E01100

(B) Sh, 10,000

(C) SA. 100,000

(D) Sh 1,000,000

(E) Sh10,000,000



when they mean 58, and they write:





when they mean 834. What number do they mean when they write the following?





- (A) 2359 **(B)** 3529 (C) 5239 (D) 9325
- (2) 532



(A)





(d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) they mean when they



(E)



(A) 2359
 (A) 3529
 (A) 5229
 (A) 5229
 (A) 5229

C

For example:

•

26

- 7

6 =		and	15 - 🗸		4	and	123 -	XV	$\nabla \Delta$	Δ
How	would 3	24 be	writte	n?		18.1			-	
(A)	XXX			aluet	2005		1 10	D et		
(B)	XXV		▲ .	c: :	43 00 8 00	5	in en. 13 - 63	(s.		
(c)	XXX			-	13 04	21455	q + :	5 - (A)		
(D)	7 4 4	7 7 8	XX	X	2000	. 96 - 111	in un fil I un fil	1 (5.		
(E)	XXX	XXV		4	2448	un es	t m .	1		-
TEC	the mus	1. 25	10 5	03 8	12 f 3:	800 5	[1 . 7]	D; C		5
Which	h of the	follow	ing is	equal	L to	37 t	ens?	(هر ۱		
(A)	37			383	ni de	2 802	13 01	2		
(B)	100	2.01 at	5 05 2	ed j -	anoge	or she	to de	A bei	1	
(c)	37	i sob	-	C 124. W	s, Se	פסנרא	egati	62511		
(D)	370			-			000,1	52 (A)		
(E)	3700					0	19,60	AL(E)		
						00	0,001,	,212)	-	
ŤŤ	1 11					600,	000, 5	12,(1)		
FG	H JK					000,0	63,06	Å5 2)		
Which	arrow p	oints t	to the	tenth	s' pl	ace?	a.			
(A)	F									
(B)	G			-			-			
(D)	n J									

11. If a new system of number notation used the following symbols

△ stands for zero

stands for five

Stands for eight

A stands for two

Which is the correct answer to the example?

 Δ () $\bigcirc \bigcirc \triangle$

- 12. If the two middle digits of 6348 ware interchanged, the number would be
 - (A) 100 less

Э

- (B) 90 less
- (C) unchanged
- (D) 90 more
- (E) 100 more
- STOP. If you finish before time is called, check your work on this part. Do not go back to any previous part. Do not turn this page until you are asked to do so.

154

HIDDEN FIGURES

INSTRUCTIONS

In this section you have a pattern on the left. On the right there are five figures. You have to find which one of these five figures can be found in the pattern on the left.

Look at the sample question below.

Example O



The correct answer is A as figure A is the only figure hidden in the pattern. The figure below shows how figure A is hidden in the pattern.



You see that there are some extra lines passing through this figure. These extra lines are to make the figures harder to find.

Here is a sample question for you to try.



Ans. Example OO L M N P Q

There will be only one figure in each pattern. It will always be the same size and shape. It will not be turned around or turned over.

For this section you will mark all of your answers on the answer sheet.

Be careful that you mark in the correct letter for each question. Your answer sheet has five choices given to each question. Choose only One answer and mark this using an X on the answer sheet.

Work as quickly and as accurately as you can. You should only Suess if you can rule out some of the choices. Do not guess wildly.

You will have 10 minutes.

3.33 10070 \sum \bigtriangleup D マイ 2 2 3 D C 25

158 1 • 5 5. _____) ^ D r 3 6. 7 2 L X **D** 70 7 \sum 7. З. У. <u>к</u> 8. 2 Q 14 1/m



Your will have 15 minutes for the Task.

1 E A 6 0 6 / 7 A E C D 6 ż 0 E E 1 10 ٩ 1 0 6 3 © B D (C 2 0 D C 0 A 1 (TH

160 jz 7 (2) 0 0 Ø E 7 8 0 B D A 6 G ... LaT 5 7 B D E C G 3 R 10 7 Π 10 3 lacksquareA \bigcirc V 11 0 € 0 6 6 3 12 6 A (1). 0 (\mathbb{R}) (3) (3) ling
FIVE DOTS

Requisitions in this section are based on five dots in a row. There is one inch between each dot. Each dot is named with a capital detter as shown below.

P Q R S T

We agree to give each dot many names. Since dot S is 2 inches to the right of dot Q, we will say another name for dct \pm is Q2. The 2 is written to the <u>right</u> of Q at dot S is to the <u>right</u> of dot Q. Another name for dot S is R1 because dot S is 1 inch to the right of dot R.

We now write an equal sign between two names, we say we have two names for the same dot. S = Q2 or Q2 = S are to a statements because Q2 and S are names of the same dot. P3 = Q is a false statement because P3 and Q are names of the same dot.

As ther way of naming dot S is 1T. Here the 1 is what then to the left of T as dot S is to the left of d : T. We could write S = 1T. Two more names for dot S are OS and SO (the O is a zero) because the dot which is zero inches from dot S is dot S itself. There are seven names for dot S. They are S, OS, SO, RI, Q2, P3 and 1T. See if you can think of seven names

for dot R.

So looks like a dot name but it is not because there is no description of dot S.

A the questions in this section are about dot names. You. • E read the explanation at any time during the test. Here are some proceice examples:

EX.	0.				c :	DE		
	Q2=		_	~		2		
	(A)	P						
	(B)	9						
	(C)	R						
	(D)	S						
	(E)	T						
						bole	 10	

The correct answer is S, which is choice (D). See how D has been

Try the next two examples.

EX.	00.		· A	8	DE	EX.	000.		A	B	C
	۹		S				Q	- P			Į.
	(Å)	0					(A)	0			1
	(B)	1	2		-		(B)	1	1		
	(C)	2					(C)	2			1
	(D)	3			1		(D)	3			3
	(E)	4	21				(E)	4			1

For this section, you will mark all of your answers on

You will have 15 minutes for this section.

Your first answer is numbered 13. Work as quickly and as accurately as you can. You should go only if you can rule out some of the choices. Do not guess

	-	P 0	8	S		I I	n the f	ollowing	questio	ons x st	ands fo	r 01	ne of	P, Q, R,	S or
12	23 =	2 2 4	5 17		T = Q	T	and	n standa	s for o	ne of G,	1, 2, 3	0)	· ••		
1.5	(A) P	a train		(A)	0	2	0. If	T = x4;	then	x =	24. 1	(r	Qn = 1	IT, then	n =
	(B) Q	C 308 4-3	No.	(8).	120	· · · · ·	E CIN	P T	200	661	- (A)	0	1	
	(C) R	100	2 157	(C)	2 03 14	51 P	2 (B)	Q H	D1 (L)		200	3)	1		
	(D) 5 (E) T	2 2 (5.) ·	(D) (E)	2 4	5	(C)	R S	, .	4 10 E4	YOR L	D)	5		2
		14.04 Tane	Yar.		1. 14		(E)	T		1. 1.	110	E)	4		
4	28 = -	101	18	- 4	= P	2		1			5 55 57				1. 4
	(A)° P	J. Or	4 6 2	(A)	2	2	1. If	$x0 = Q_{r}$	then	× ••	25. 3	11	nS = 1	R1, then	n =
	(B) Q (C) R	101) (101)	-10	(C)	R	# _	(A)	1 2	~ .		500	(A)	0		
63	(D) S	N B	13 22	(D)	s	1	(C)	R			24	(C)	2		
-	(E) T	191	1 2 3	(E)	T	1	(D)	S				(D)	3		
15	07 =	4 64	5 ° 6 ° 19	. 0	= R	0	(E)	T			500	(E)	7		
	(A) P	- L - C	a 1001	- (A)	p 15	1 2 2	2. 11	$Pn = S_{r}$	then	n =	2		3		
	(B) Q	1.1	5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5. 5	(B)	Q		(A)	0 7			3				
	(C) R	2 6 6	5 0 A	(C)	R	27	(B)	1 10 0		•	te .				
	(D) S (E) T	1.1.1	3.4 0 - 1	(D) (E)	S T	-	(C)	2 a			C. 691	- 3			1
•	141	1.150 C. 110	and a state				(D) (E)	4			C C C			4	-
16.	R =	T	100			205		1014						÷.	
	0 (1)	100	*		•	- 2	3. IC	$T = Rn_{s}$	then	n =					
	(0) (2) (2) (2)	4				1	(A)	0	۰.					-	
	(2) 3		1			1	(3) (C)	2						-	
	-(=) 4						(0)	3					-		

5.

Q By using the symbols () more names can be given to a dot. For example, (P1)2 names the dot which is 2 inches right of the dot Pl. Dot Pl is Q. Thus, (Pl)2 is another name for dot s. The name 3((P1)2) names a dot 3 inches left of (P1)2. We have just shown that (P1)2 = S. P is 3 inches to the left of S. Thus, 3((P1)2) = P. Now answer the following questions. 29. If T = (x1)2, then x = 26. (2T)1 = ____ (A) P (A) P (B) Q 6 (B) Q (C) R (C) R 1 Ca. 11. 1. 14 (D) S (D) S (E) T (E) Т If (2R)n = R, then n =_ 2(Q3) = 3, then x = ____ 30. 11 27. (A) 0 (A) P (B) 1 (B) Q (C) 2 (C) R (D) 3 3 (D) 461 . 1 . 75 . 143 1 1 1 11 $(E) \cdot 4$ (E) CA 10 11 11 A 10 m 31. If (nS)2 = S, thon n ((P1)1)2 - _ 28. (A) 0 (A) P (B) 1 (B) Q (C) 2 416 (C) R (D) 3 (D) S (E) 4 (E) T STOP. If you finish before time is called, check your work in this section. Do not go back to the earlier pections.

163

**

.

162

63 . C) +4

10 IT - In

PROBLEM SOLVING

the second second

HOW LIDEY WITTE CHILL

.18

.6

1.

INSTRUCTIONS

In this section there are 10 problems about several types of mathematics. For each question choose the correct answer from those given and mark the correct letter on the answer sheet with an "X". DO NOT WRITE ON THIS QUESTION PAPER.

You will have 20 minutes for this section.

DO NOT TURN THIS PAGE UNTIL YOU ARE TOLD TO DO SO.

Tom's mother cooked 48 potatoes.
 She also cooked 64 bananas.
 She cooked how many fewer potatoes than bananas?

- A. 112
- B. 48
- C. 26
- D 14
- E. 16.

Ann has Shs. 30 to spend for books.
 Each book costs Shs. 5.
 How many books can Ann buy?

A. n = 30 - 5B. n = 30 - 5C. $n = 5 \times 30$

D. n = 30 + 5. For 2, the terminar pull of

	V
3.	Daniel bought a bag of 20 new marbles.
	He now has 75 marbles.
	How many marbles did Daniel have before he
	bought the new ones?
nation for edg	In this section there are 10 problems were to the second by
1016 119734: 695	WA.mi 20 + 75 = nerroo and distin collegip thes the .e.itthe
NOT WRITE	"B. 1"75 = 20 + n colle the ans and no restol thethe off fina
	C. n + 20 = 75
	D. $n = 75 - 20$.
6	You will have 20 minutes for filt would be
4.	Suppose you have a marble game.
*	You drop a marble at A. It goes to B.
	How many ways can it go?
	Is for a ther the bots wis,
	She also coolso coolso
	a assergnancia metra seguració de la la la persona ates
	2. Am In Sha. D. Second C. books.
1	Each look
	How shire the Barry Barry has
	A. 2 $2 - 0.5 = 0.1 + 3.4$
	B. 4
	C. 5
	C. n = 5 x 30 6 .0
	D. The number of ways is not given. + OF = a .G

165 - 2

-

The objective dimestration of the second state of the second stat

5. Look at the chart at the below.

Some numbers are needed to complete it.

What would you write instead of the question mark

166

(?) in the ring?

MON. TUPS T-TAL WED 10 5 3 Binh 8 7 4. JOR 11 7 1 TOM 37 10 12 TOTAL Α. 1 IA, B. | 4 ΥĽ (30) C. ' 10 (0) 111 D.1 13 Vi 10; E. My answer is not given. (T)

16. If	R - 8 = T, then which of	the following is (are) true?
	$I_* R + T = S$	
	II. R - T = 8	1 4 1 1
× 11 m	III. S + T = B	
1 (A)	I only	
(B)	III only	The plane to the left a sure
(c)	I and II	by the stream on the river
(D)	I and III	
(2)	II and III	(999)
	· · ·	(c) (c)

(b) 973 (b) 263





-4-

167











ITT Los. I. (3)

The picture to the left shows the number 3425. What number is shown by the picture on the right? TTI fam I (1)

- (A) 9999
- (B) 9730
- (c) 9269
- (D) 973
- (B) 269

The picture below shows that something happened to a large group. Here was the group at the left changed to become the group at the right?



- (A) 4 was added to it.
- (B) 4 was subtracted from it.
- (C) It was multiplied by $\frac{1}{h}$.
- (D)' It was divided by .
- (E) It was not changed.

18.



In the figure above, the line ST is drawn to the scales

1 Cm. to 100 Melfe. What is the distance represented by ST?

- (A) 200 metire
- (B) 175 metre
- (C) 150 Helie
- (a) metre
- (D) 125 metre.
- (E) 100 MODE

STOP

IF YOU FINISH BEFORE TIME IS CALLED, CHECK YOUR WORK ON THESE PROPLEMS. DO NOT WORK ON ANY OTHER SECTION IN THE BOOKLET.

THE RELATIONSHIP STUDY OF BETWEEN A MATHEMATICAL ABILITY AND MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT IN PRIMARY SEVEN CHILDREN 15 OF KENYA

19

ANSWER SHEET

24

A.

te.

INSTRUCTIONS:

For each test there is a separate question paper. Please 1. do not write anything on the question paper.

Now complete the information requested below and do not start answering any question until you are told to do so.

For each question choose the correct answer and mark it with an X on this answer sheet. MARK ONLY ONE ANSWER.

For test of COMPUTATION you write down the answer in the space provided.

1.	What is your name?		*
	Surname	18 1	
	Other names		
2.	What is the name of your school?		
з.	Are you a boy or a girl? (tick) A. Boy B.	Girl	
4.	When were you born?		
5.	How old are you?		
6.	Have you repeated any class		-
	If yes then which class	1.0	
7.	Do you go for after class coaching in Mathematics	or	
	English		

	*			- 2	-			
		NEEMERS	ARITHM	ETIC	REASONIN	IG AUE.	. A	
		PAD. CAMB	PT. C. C. C.	1113	13.5	· HH	. : A.H	
1.	_ A	CHILDREN	B dette i	C	11.1. · I	0.,	DIDA.	
2.	A		B	С	I)		
3.	A		B	C	I) .	5	
4.	A		B	C	I	2		
э. 6	· Δ		B	C	1			
7.	A		B (lud)	C	1 1			
8	A		B	c	Ī))	RECTTOR	náve
9.	A		B	C	I			
10.	Å	iod uora	B albib	С	I Experie	1897	HO3: 20.	
11.	А	12	B	- C -	11 115	TYNE	STERN IC	TIL
12.	A	woind h	B' In Hawk	С	Touis - I	1. tC	ignes we	
13.	Α	.05 ob	B tor you	с.	1 1000 - I	-aug	vas prima.	
14.	Α		B	С	I)	100 A 1007	
15.	A	0000 410	B	C		0		
•		SIUP ANL	WAII I	OR NE	LAI TEST		T UC A CL	i kan di kari
11-		COM	IPUTATION	(Writ	e answer	rs sin	ce there i	s no
				mult	iple cho	pice).	and Apprils	1000
1.				+			-	
2.						11 146	3, 183W	12
3. U					101-01-5-		- P#202	
5							redro	
6.	_		-				State the	
7.						0	-	
8.						-	- 200	
9.						1.	Man Mere	14
10.								
11.							- hio woh	54
12.								. ii
13.	-		res and a g					
15						1	and all	
							- 3 not cu	• 1
			2				L'oriash -	

170 (11)

1.

		WHOLE	NUMBER	COMPREHENSIO	N
1.	· A	В	С	D	
2.	A	В	С	D	
з.	А	В	C	. D	
4.	Α	B	С	D	
5.	A	В ′	С	D	
6.	A	Β.	С	D	
7.	А	В	С	D	
8.	A	В	С	D	5
9.	А	В	с	± D	e 3
10.	А	В	С	D	7
11.	А	В	С	D	
12.	А	В	С	D	
		STOP AND	WAIT FOR	NEXT TEST	
	7		HIDDEN	FIGURES	9
1.	Α,	В	С	D	
2.	L	M	N	Р	- 6
З.	А	В	с	. D	
4.	L	М	N	Р	. 1
5.	Α	В	С	D	
6.	L	М	N	Р	÷ -
7.	Α	В	С	D	
8.	L.	М	N	Р	
٠	STO	P AND WA	IT FOR	THE NEXT	TEST
			FORM	BORAD	
1.	А	B	С	D	1
2.	A	В	С	D	
3.	А	В	С	D	
4.	. A	В	C	D	0 ^(p)
5.	A	В	С	D	
6.	A	В	С	D	
7.	А	В	С	D	
8.	А	В	С	D	+ 1Ĵ
9.	A	В	С	D	. 1
10.	A	В	С	D	. 8
11.	A	В	С	D	
12.	A	В	С	D	+ E ·

STOP AND WAIT FOR NEXT TEST

*

Ε Q E E E E

Q Q E Q

E Έ E E E E E Ē E

E

170 (2)

- 3

KERELAND - KERLACION -	
AND AND AND A ADDRESS AND A	
n	
	e 2
A FILE DOTE	• h
I TIVE DOIS &	. G .i
1 13-1. A B C D	E
2. A B C D	· E
3. A B C D ^A	· · · E
4. A B C. D	· ⁸ E
5. A B C D	• E
6. A B C D	· E
-7. A CAS B MAN CA 9013 D	E
8. A CITATI BALLER. C D	E
9. A B · C D	E
10. A B C D	, E
11. A B C D	E
12. A B C D	. с. Е
13. A B C. D	. î E
STOP AND WAIT FOR NEXT TES	T • ⁹
PROBLEM SOLVING.	
1. A B C D	. I E
2. A B C D	- 2
3. A B C D	3.
4. A B Ca DA	E
5. A B C D	• E
6. A B C D	· · · E
7. A B C D	. E
3 8. A B C D	.01 E
9. A B C D'	·
10. A B C. D	E

STOP

4

C ales

MATHEMATICAL ACHIEVEMENT TEST (45 MINUTES)

DO ALL THE QUESTIONS

Read the following questions carefully then choose the corrext answer to the problem. (Tick on the answer sheet)

1. 99 x 98 + 99 x 102 equals

٨.	19,790	В.	19,800
0	10,800		10,000
С.	19,890	D.	18,800

2. 125 x 998 x 8 equals

A. +

C.

- - -

99800 В. 998000 A.

9980 000 D. None of the above C.

в.

D.

х

3. The expression 5 * 2 will not represent a whole number if * is replaced by

4. If x = 4, then 2x - 3 equals

		173			
·	۸.	3	в.	5	
	c.	11	D.	21	
5.	If p	represents a whole	number	r, then solution set of	
	4p <	10 18			
	Α.	0, 1, 2, 3	в.	0, 1, 2, 3, 4.	
		-			
	c.	1, 2, 3, 4	D.	5, 6, 7,	
6.	If X	represents a whole	number	r, then the replacement	
	for	X which satisfies 33	6+	6 = 33 is	
	Α.	3	В.	7	
a	c.	11	D.	15	
7.	If X	X = 1 and $Y = 2$, then	2(2X+	+5Y) equals	
	A.	14	в.	18	
	C.	24	D.	146	

			e.		
		3			
8.	II 1	$x = 2$, then $(3X)^{-}$ eq	quals		
		0.4			
	A.	34	в.	54	
	0	100		010	
	0.	108	D.	216	
0	7-10	3 4-10 5-102 6-104			
	7110	+410+510 +610	equats		
		590	B	0784	
			5.	0704	
	c.	7456	D .	None of the s	bove
10.	25.0	12 - 9.08 equals			
	Α.	15.932	в.	16.004	
				1	
	c.	16.040	D.	16.932	. *
11.	Whick	h one of the follow	ing rep	resents the gr	eatest
	man h				
	nump	er(
		2 9468		0.9448	
			.	. 3447	
	C.	2.3395	D	2 346	
			υ.	340	

12. 1/8 expressed as a percent is?

- A. 2.5% B. 12.5%
- C. 37.5% D. 50%

13. The ratio of the speed of a bicycle to the speed of a motor cycle is 3:5. If the motor cycle is travelling at a speed of 45 miles per hour, then the speed of the bicycle in miles per hour is

- A. 15 B. 27
- C. 30 D. 35
- 14. Which one of the following products is equal to $7/15 \ge 8/13$. 2/5?
 - A. 7/15 x 13/8 x 5/2 B. 7/15 x 8/13 x 5/2

C. 7/15 x 8/13 x 2/5 D 7/15 x 13/8 x 2/5

15. 2/3 x 4/5 x 10/16

A. 1/3 B. 2/3 C. 3/2 D. 3/1



In the following ten questions, i.e. Nos. 31 - 40 work out the solution in the space provided in the answer sheet.

- 19. Susan is younger than Priscilla. Valleria older than Priscilla. Ralphael is younger than Susan, who is second oldest?
- 20 If the diameter of a circle is 8, then 3 times the radius of the circle is?
- 21. Juma worked for 3 hours and 35 minutes in the morning and 1 hour and 55 minutes in the afternoon. How long did he work altogether?
- 22. A bus has 75 seats. There are five seats in each row. How many rows of seats are there in the bus?
- 38. A rectangular piece of paper measures 321 cm by 26.3 cm.

A. What is the perimeter of the paper?B. Write down the perimeter in millimetres.

24. The temperature of a frozen mass of ice was - 20° C. The ice was warmed until there was a rise of 32° C. What was the reading on the scale of the thermometer?

MATHEMATICAL VOCABULARY TEST (10 MINS.)

In this test, read the following questions carefully and then choose the correct answer to the question from the four choices given.

- 1. The total distance all the way round a figure is called -----
 - A. Circumference B. Diameter
 - C. Perimeter D. Square.
- 2. If two straight lines are at right angles, one of them is said to be ----- to the other
 - A. Horizontal B. Vertical
 - C. Perpendicular D. Parallel
- 3. The numbers 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 13, 17, 19 are all examples of ----- numbers.
 - A. Odd B. Even

C. Prime D. Irrational

- 4. If the numbers 3, 5, 6, 7, 9 are added and the total divided by 5 the result is called the -----of the five numbers.
 - B. Average/Mean A. Sum
 - C. Divisor D. Multiple.
- 5. In case of a circle the perimeter is given the name -----
 - A. Radius B. Diameter
 - C. Circumference D. Centre .
- 6. When common elements of two sets are considered the operation is -----
 - A. Union B. Subset
 - * C. Complement D. Intersection.
- 7. What is true about the opposite sides of a parallelogram?

A. They are perpendicular B. They are parallel

C. They are tangent to the other

D. They can meet when produced.

.

8. The sum of five and six is eleven. What name is given to five and six?

A. Sums B. Multiples

C. Addends D. Factors

12

ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY TEST (30 MINUTES)

Read the instructions which appear before each set of five questions very carefully before you answer the questions.

Which of the words, or group of words is needed to complete each of the following sentences.

- When I have completed my C.P.E., I ----- something nice.
 - A. Shall buy B. Will bought
 - C. Buy D. Shall bought
- 2. I will not pay ----- you deliver the goods.
 - A. Although B. Because
 - C. Until D. Lest
- 3. If you can come to school early you ----- be able to meet him before the class commences.
 - A. Shall B. Would
 - C. May D. Can

4. Mr. Kenyatta ----- our country to freedom

A. Lead B. Led

C. Leading D. Leaded.

Choose the word which is nearest in meaning to the word underlined in the sentences that follow.

5. Your failure is the result of laziness

A. Reward B. Fault

C. Consequence D. Cause

6. We must preserve our old customs.

A. Keep B. Continue

C. Forget D. Remember

7. He observed him lift the load onto his head.

A. Spied B. Watched

C. Saw

D. Noticed.

From the following lists of words numbered A, B, C, and D pick out the two words in each that are nearest in meaning and write as shown in the example.

Example:

- A. Imagine B. Fancy
- C. Believe D. Think

Answer: A - B

8. A. Teach B. Inform

C. Instruct D Show

9. A. Grumble B. Abuse

C. Complain D. Tell

Use one word instead of the words underlined in the Sentences below. Write your one word answer in the space provided in the answer sheet.

10. Her dress is able to be seen through.

11. His friend is a grown up person.

Read the following story carefully and then answer the questions that follow.

A STORY

Mr. Onyango once found himself with a hyena, a goat and a bundle of sweet potatoes. He lived in the little town of Oboch. He decided to cross the Miriu river in his boat and take the three things to his father-in-law as presents. His little boat could only take himself and one article at a time. He realized that he could not leave the goat with the sweet potatoes. The goat would ceab them up! He also realized that the hyena would kill the goat if the two were left together. In the end Mr. Onyango did manage to solve the problem. On the first and the last trips he took the same goat across the river.

12. Which of these trips would have been impossible?

Α.	Mr.	Onyango	takes	the goat across the river.
В.	Mr. the	Onyango river.	takes	the goat and sweet potatoes across
c.	Mr.	Onyango	comes	back alone.
D.	Mr.	Onyango	takes	the hyenard across the river.

13. Which of these trips did Mr. Onyango do twice? A. Taking the goat across the river B. Taking the hyena across the river C. Taking sweet potatoes across the river. D. Bringing sweet potatoes back. 14. Which of these actions would have been unwise A. To leave the hyena and sweet potatoes together. Β. To leave the goat and hyena together. C. To take one article across the river. D. To bring back an article from across the river. 15. Which of these statements is TRUE of Mr. Onyango's boat? It could carry the goat and the sweet potatoes A. in one trip. Β. It could carry the goat, the hyena and the sweet potatoes in one trip.

- C. It could carry the hyena and sweet potatoes in one trip.
- D. It could only carry one article at a time.
- 16. Which of the following statements is TRUE about Mr. Onyango's number of trips?
 - A. Mr. Onyango ' could carry all his three articles in one trip.
 - B. Mr. Onyango had to make three trips altogether.
 - C. Mr. Onyango made four trips altogether.

(d) Mr. Onyango made a total of seven trips.

In each of the questions study the underlined sentence. Then choose from the four sentences underneath it, the one sentence which means the same as the underlined sentence and which is also correct English.

- 17. "What shall we do this afternoon?" Mary asked her friend.
 - A. Mary asked her friend what they should do that afternoon.
 - B. Mary asked her friend what shall we do this afternoon.
 - C. Mary asked her friend what should they do this afternoon.
 - D. Mary asked her friend what we should do this afternoon.

18. Moses went to the shamba to get some maize

A. Getting some maize, Moses went to the shamba.
B. While going to the shamba, Moses got some maize.
C. As he was going to the shamba, Moses got some maize.
D. Moses went to the shamba because she needed some maize.

19. Unless he finds his bicycle, he will be punished.

A. He will be punished if he finds his bicycle.
B. If he found his bicycle, he would be punished.
C. He will not be punished if he finds his bicycle. **9.** He will not be punished and will not find his bicycle.

20 However hard she works, nobody praises her.

1.1

A. She works hard, but nobody praises her.
B. No matter how they praise her, she works hard.
C. She doesn't work hard because nobody praises her **5.** Even if she works hard, nobody praises her.

REFERENCES

1. Adejumo, Dayo. "The reliability and validity of MHM for predicting Mathematical Achievement among Nigerian Children". Educational and Psychological Measurement 1977. "On Mathematics Curriculum of 2. Ahlfors, L.V. et al the High School." Mathematics Teacher, 1962, 55, pp. 191-195. Ahman, Stanley J. & 3. Evaluating Pupil Growth Princi-Glock, Mariuin D. ples of Test and Measurement, Allyn & Bacon Inc. Boston 1967 (4th Edition), pp. 183-320. 4. Aiken, L. R. J. & "The Effect of Attitudes on Dreger, R. M. Performance in Mathematics" Journal of Educational Psychology, 1961, 52. 5. "Personality Correlates of Aiken, L. R. Attitude toward Mathematics". Journal of Educational Research. 1963, Vol. 56, pp. 476-480.

6.

"Attitude toward Mathematics" Review of Educational Research. Vol. 40, 1970, pp. 551 - 596.

"Ability and Creativity in Mathematics" Review of Educational Research, Vol. 43, No. 405 - 432.

188

7.

9.

10. Anderson N. E.

- 11. Ausubel, D.P. & Robinson, F. G.
- 12. Avital, S.M. & Shettleworth, S.J.
- 13. Baldwin, A.L.

14. Barakat, M. K.

"Language Factors in Learning Mathematics". <u>Review of</u> <u>Educational Research</u>. Vol. 42, No. 3, 1972.

"Intellective Variables and Mathematical Achievement: Directions for Research" Journal of School Psychology, No. 9 19-1; pp. 201-209.

The Nature of Abilities" In E. F. (ED.), <u>Education</u> Talent Minneapolis: University of Minnesola Press, 1960.

School Learning: An Introduction to Educational Psychology, New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1969.

Objectives for Mathematics Learning: Some Ideas for the Teacher. The Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, Bulletin No. 3, 1968.

"The role of an Ability Construct in a Theory of Behaviour" in Miclelland, D. C., Baldwin, A.L., Bronfembremer, U. and Strodtbeck, F.C.: <u>Talent and Society</u> D. Van Nostrand Co., Princeton, N. J., 1958 p. 197.

"Factors underlying the Mathematical Ability of grammar school pupils" <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Educational Psychology</u>. No. 21, 1951, pp. 239 - 240.

		the second se
15.	Barakat, M. K.	"A Factorial Study of Mathema- tical Ability", <u>The British</u> <u>Journal of Psychology</u> . <u>Statistical Section</u> . No. 4, 1951, pp. 137 - 156.
	1 2	
16.	Behr, M. J.	A Study of Interactions between "Structure or - Intellect". Factors and two Methods of Presenting Concepts of Modulus Seven Arithmatic.' (Doctoral Dissertation,
•		Florida State University) Anna Arbor, Mich University Microfilms 1967. No. 67 - 14, 440.
17.	Bell, A. W. & Wheeler, D. H. (ed)	"Examinations and Assessment" Mathematics Teaching Pamphlet, No. 14, 1966.
18.	Bentley, J. C.	"Creativity and Academic Achievement". Journal of Educa- tional Research, 1966.
19.	Betz (1922)	In Krutetskii, V.A. <u>The Psychology</u> of Mathematical Ability, The Univer- sity of Chicago Press, Chicago and London, 1976.
10.17		
20	Blackwell, A.M.	"A Comparative Investigation into the Factors involved in Mathe- matical Ability of boys and girls Parts I & II, <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Educational Psychology</u> No. 10, 1940, pp. 143-153, pp. 212-222.
21.	Bloom, B. S. et al	Taxonomy of Educational Objectives The Classification of Educational Goals, Handbook I Cognitive
		Domain. London: Longmans, 1956.

21 Brown, B.

"The Assessment of Self Concept among Four-Year-Old Negro and White Chidren." Cited by Proshansky, H., and Newton, D., In Dentish, M; Katz, I; and Jensen, A. Social Class, Race, and Psychological Development. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1967.

22. Bruner, J.S.

Toward a Theory of Instruction Cambridge, Mass: Belknap Press, 1966.

Studies in Cognitive Growth

New York: Wiley, 1966.

23 Bruner, J.S., Olver, R., & Greenfiled, P.

24. Buffery, AW H, Gray JH (1972)

25 Burnett, S.A. & Lane, D. M.

26. Burt, C.

27. Canisia, Sister M.

28. Carey, G. L.

"Sex Differences in Development of Spatial and Linguistic Skills." In C. Ounstead and D. C. Taylor (Eds) <u>Gender Differences: Onotegny and</u> <u>Significance London Churchill.</u>

"Effects of Academic Instruction on Spatial Visualization" <u>Intelligence</u>, Vol. 4, No. 3, 1980, pp. 233 - 242.

"The Structure of the Mind in Wiseman, S (ed.) <u>Intelligence and Ability</u>: <u>Selected Readings</u> (Second Edition), Penguin Books, 1967.pp. 126 - 130.

"Mathematical Ability as related to Reasoning and use of Symbols" Educational and Psychological Measurement No. 22, 1962, p. 105

"Reduction of Sex Differences in Problem Solving by Improvement of Attitude through Group Discussion". Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology No. 56, 1958, pp. 256-260 "An Analysis of the Educational Concepts of Fourteen Outstanding Mathematicians, 1790-1940, in the Areas of Mental Growth and Development, Creative Thinking, and Symbolism and Meaning." (Doctoral Dissertation, North Western University Microfilms, 1959, No. 59 - 4782.

> An Assessment of Factors Affecting Female Participants in Advanced Placement Programs in Mathematics, and Physics, National Science Foundation, Washington D.C. 1975.

- Cleveland, G. A. & A Study of Certain Psychological 31. Bowsworth, D.L. and Sociological Characteristics as Related to Arithmetic Achievement. Arithmetic Teacher, 1967.
 - Cleman, R. H. "An Analysis of Certain Components of Mathematical Ability and an Attempt to Predict Mathematical Achievement in a Specific Situation" (Doctoral Dissertation, Indiana University) Ann Arbor, Mich. University Microfilms 1959.

"Math as a Second Language" The Instructor, 1971, 81 (Oct.) pp. 76 - 77.

> "Math > Anxiety: Causes and Cures," Unpublished Manuscript, Wesleyan University, 1975.

"Indentification and Education of Gifted in Mathematics" in G.Z.F. Beneday & J. A. Lawenys (Eds.): The Yearbook of Education, 1961 New York: Harcourt, Brace World 1961, pp. 393-399.

29. Carlton, L. V.

30 C asserly, P.

32.

33. Cooper, F.F.

34. Dougherty, K.

35. Duncan, E. R.

36. Dutton, W.

37. Drenth, P.J.

Attitude change of Prospective Elementary School Teachers toward Arithmetic", <u>Arithmetic Teacher</u>, No. 9, 1962, pp. 418 - 424.

"Prediction of School Performance: School Grades or Psychological Tests?", In Okatcha, F.M. (Ed.): <u>Modern Psychology and Cultural</u> <u>Adaptation</u>. Swahili Language Consultants and Publishers, Nairobi, Kenya, 1977.

Growth Changes in Factional Structures

Genetic Monograph, 1968 Vol. 73

by Age and Sex"

pp. 55 - 88.

38. Dye, N. W. & Very, P. S.

39 Educational Research Unit:

E1-Abd, Harned:

Home Background as a determinant of Success in a Papua New Guinean High School", <u>E. R. U. Report No. 11</u> University of Papua New Guinea, 1974.

"Mathematical Ability of East African Students". Makerere University College 1971.

41 Eliot John & Anna Hamptman

40

42. Elton, C.F. & Rose, H. A.

43 Ernest, J.

"Different Dimensions of Spatial Ability Studies in Science Education" Journal of Science Education. pp. 45 - 66.

"Traditional Sex Attitudes and Discrepant Ability Measures in College Women, Journal of Counselling Psychology No. 14 1967 pp. 538-543.

<u>Mathematics and Sex</u>, Santa Barbara University of Carlifornia, 1976.

44.	Eshiwani, G. S.	"The Effectiveness of Programmed Instruction, Conventional Classroom Approach, and Integrated Programmes in the Teaching of Probability to High School Students in Kenya." Ph. D. 1974, Stanford University,
45.		U. S. A. "Mathematics and Science Education in Kenya: Issues and Problems", Kenya Education Bouton 1(2) 1074
46.		pp. 5 - 18. "Sex Differences in the Learning of
		Mathematics among Kenyan High School Students" Staff Seminar Series, 1974 - 1975, pp. 11 - 27.
47.		"A Study of the Mathematical Ability of Kenyan Primary School Children", Bureau of Educational Research, Kenyatta University College, 1980.
48.	Evans, Err.	"Measuring the Ability of Students to Respond in Creative Mathematical Situations at the late Elementary and Junior High School Level!"
		(Doctoral Dissertation University of Michigan) Ann Arbor Mich.: University Microfilms 1965. No. 65 - 5302.
19.	Ewbank, W. A.	"Mental Arithmetic a Neglected Topic", <u>Mathematics in School Vol. 6</u> , No. 5, 1977.
9.	Fennema, E.	"Mathematics Learning and the Sexes: A Review"; <u>Journal of Research in</u> <u>Mathematics Education 5, No. 3</u> , 1974, pp. 126-139.

49.

49.

÷
Sherman, J. 51 Fennema, E. & Carpentar, T. P.

Fennema, E. S. &

52 Ferguson, G. A.

50

- 53. Ferguson, G. A.
- 54. Fiscian, C. E.

- 55. Garai, J. E. & Scheinfeld, A.
- 56. Geng, U, & Mehl, J.

57. Genshaft, J. L. & Hirt, M. L. "Sex-related differences in Mathematics Achievement, Spatial Visualization and Socio-Cultural Factors". <u>American Educational</u> <u>Research Journal</u>, 1977, 14, 51-71.

"Sex related differences in Mathematics; results from National Assessment", "The Mathematics Teacher Vol. 74, No. 7, Oct. 1981, p. 554.

"Learning and Human Ability" in Wiseman, S (ed) <u>Intelligence and</u> <u>Ability: Selected Readings</u> (Second edition), Penguin Books, 1967, pp. 314-320.

Statistical Analysis in Psychology & Education, Third Edution, McGraw Hill Book Company, New York, 1971.

"Educational Selection and Placement: Some present Problems and Future Prospects." In Okatcha, F.M. (Ed): <u>Modern Psychology and Cultural Adaptation</u>, Swahili Language Consultants and Publishers, Nairobi, Kenya, 1977.

"Sex Differences in Mental and Behavioral Traits". <u>Genetic Psychology Monographs</u>, 1968, 77, pp. 169-299.

Uber dia Beziehungen Zwischen Intelligenz and Specialbo fahigungen. (Relationship between Intelligence and Spacial Abilities. 1969.

The Effectiveness of Self-Instructional Training to enhance Mathematical Achievement in Women, <u>Cognitive</u> <u>Therapy and Research</u>. Vol. 4, No. 1 1980, p. 91 - 97.

196

10	1963.
y, R. B. & aniel, E.D.	"The Relationship between Mathematics Achievement and Spatial Abilities among Elementary School Children." Journal of Research in Mathematics Education, Vol. 8, No. 3, 1977, pp. 211-215.
dford, J.P.; ofner, R. & erson, H.	"Predicting Achievement in the Ninth- grade Mathematics from Measures of Intellectual - aptitude factors", Educational and Psychological Measurement, No. 25, 1965, pp. 659 - 682
	000 002.
ldford, J.P.	The Nature of Human Intelligence New York McGraw Hill, 1969.
oley (1935)	In Krutetskii, V.A. <u>The Psychology</u> of <u>Mathematical Abilities</u> , The University of Chicago Press,
	Chicago and London, 1976.
sen, C. W.	"Factors Associated with Successful Achievements in Problem Solving in Sex Grade Arithmetic" Journal of Ed. Research 1944.
	Aniel, E.D. Adford, J.P.; Ofner, R. & Orson, H. Adford, J.P. Oley (1935)

64. Hills, J. R.

1. 1

58. Goslin, D. A.

"Factor analysed Abilities and Success in College Mathematics", Educational and Psychological Measurement Vol. 17, 1957, pp. 615-622.

Vol. 38, PP: 111-138.

The Search for Ability Standardized

Testing in Social Perspective, Risae- Sage Foundation. New York. 66. Hollingworth, L. S.; Ch. Ne
67. House, P. A.; Knoblanch, S.F. "Construction of the second se

65. Hochschild, A. R.

- 71 Isaacson, Z.& Freeman, H.
- 72. Johnson, D. A. & Rising, G. R.
- 73. Jones, J.

A Review of Sex Role Research in Changing Woman in Changing Society' Ed. by Joan Huber Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 1973, pp. 253.

Children above 180 IQ. World Book Co. New York, 1942.

"On meeting the needs of the Mathematically talented: A Call to Action" <u>The Mathematics Teacher</u>, Vol. 70, No. 3, 1977.

International Study of Achievement in Mathematics: A Comparison of Twelve Countries, Volume II, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1967.

"On the Empirical Relation between Spatial Ability and Sex Differences in Other aspects of Cognitive Performance". <u>Multivariate Behavioural</u> Research, 1975, 10, pp. 289-309.

Employment Incomes and Equality. A Strategy for Increasing Productive Employment in Kenya, Geneva, 1972.

"Girls and Mathematics: A Response". Mathematics Teaching No. 90, 1980.

Guidelines for Teaching Mathematics (1972) . 168.

"The Concept of Proportionality as a Predictor of Success at the University of Papaua New Guinea", <u>Education</u> <u>Research Unit</u>, University of Papua New Guinea, Report No. 6 1973

73.	Kakonge,	Esther	W.M.	"Abilities of Upper Primary School Children in Three Scientific Concepts namely 3-O Perception Spatial Relationships and Time."
				M. Ed. (P.T.E.) 1980.

74. Keating, D.P. & Intellectual Talent: Research and Fox Development, 1976.

Kennedy, W. A. & A Factor Analysis of Mathematics Walsh, J. Giftedness Psychological Reports, 1965.

"Problem Solving in Mathematics." 76. Kilpatrick, J. Review of Educational Research Vol. 39, No. 4, pp. 523-534.

1973.

77. Kiminyo, D.M. "A Cross-Cultural Study of the Development of Conservation of Mass Weight and Volume in Kenyan Children." Ph. D. Thesis, Alberta University, Edmonton,

78. King, K.

"Primary Schools in Kenya: Some Critical Constraints on their Effectiveness" In Court, D and Ghai, D.P. Education Society and Development: New Perspectives from Kenya. Nairobi: Oxford University Press, 1974, pp. 123-147.

79. Klein, W. E. "A Synthesis of two factor analyses of Intermediate - Algebra." (Doctoral Dissertation, Princeton University) Ann Arbor, Mich: University Microfilms, 1960.

75.

80	Krutetskii, V. A.	The Psychology of Mathematical Ability in School Children, Translated from Russian by Joan Teller) Edited by Jeremy Kilpatrick and Izaak Wirszup, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London 1976.
81	Lambert, P.	Mathematical Ability and Masculinity", Arithmetic Teacher, 1960, pp. 19-21.
82.	Lamon, W. E. (ed)	Learning and the Nature of Mathematics, Science Research Associates, Inc., Chicago, 1972.
83.	Lee (1955)	In Krutetskii, V.A. <u>The Psychology</u> of <u>Mathematical Abilities</u> . The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London, 1976.
84.	Leton, D.A. & Kim, S.	"Analysis of Mathematical Ability required for success in ninth grade Mathematics." <u>Cooperative Research</u> <u>Project No. CRP - S - 343 Honolulu:</u> Education Research and Development Centre, University of Hawaii, 1966 (Eric: Ed OlO 420).
85.	Lewin, M.	Understanding Psychological Research, John Wiley and Sons New York, 1979.
86.	Linville, W.J.	"The Effects of Syntax and Vocabulary upon the Difficulty of Verbal Arithmetic Problems with Fourth Grade Students."

(Doctoral Dissertation Indiana University). Ann Arbor Michigan University Microfilms, 1970 New York LDA 30A: 4310;

14

April 1970.

.

199

87.	Lovel, K.	"Intellectual Growth and Under- standing Mathematics". <u>Mathematics Education Reports</u> , Eric Information Analysis Contre for Science and Mathematics Education, February 1971, Eric Document No. ED 049 069.
88.		The Growth of Basic Mathematics and Mathematics and Scientific Concepts in Children, University of London Press Ltd., 1971, pp. 11 - 24.
89.	Lovell, K. & Buttersworth, I.B.	"Abilities Underlying the Understand- ing of Proportionality", <u>Mathematics</u> <u>Teacher</u> , No. 39. p. 59.
90.	Lyda, W. J. & Duncan, F.M.	"Quantitative Vocabulary and Problem Solving." <u>Arithmetic Teacher</u> , 1967, 14, pp. 289-291.
91	Maccobby, E.E.	Sex Differences in Intellectual Functioning: The Development of Sex Difference, Maccobby E.E. (Ed.) Stanford University Press, Stanford 1966.
92.	Maccoby E.E. and Jacklin	The Psychology of Sex Differences, Stanford, Califf Stanford University Press, 1974.
93.	Mandu, J. P. S.	"An Investigation in the Effectiveness of the Cuisenaire-Gatteno Approach to the Teaching of Mathematics in Standard 3 (Third Grade) in Kenya." M. Ed. Thesis 1977 - University of Nairobi.
	8	1
	-	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

94.	McGannon T. H.	"A Comaprison of two Methods of Teaching Calculus with Special Inquiry into Creativity. (Doctoral Dissertation, North Western University) Ann Arbor, Mich: University Micro- films. 1971 No. 71 - 1917.
95.	Madden, R.	"New Directionsin the Measurement of Mathematical Ability", <u>Arithmetic Teacher</u> , 1966, 13, pp. 375 - 379.
96.	Maritim, E.K.	"The Academic Self-Concept and the Teacher's Perception: their Relation- ships to Pupils Grade Attainment
		in Rural Kenya." Ph. Ed. Thesis, Havard University, 1979.
97.	Martin, M. D.	"Reading Comprehension, Abstract Verbal Reasoning, and Computation as Factors in Arithmetic Problem Solving". Doctor's Thesis. Iowa City: State University of Iowa, 1963.
98.	Mebon, K. M. CESIS	"The Relationship Between Self Concept and Academic Achievement in Kenyan Pupils", Ph. D. 1973. Stanford University.
99.	Meinader,(1950)	In Krutetskii, V. A. The Psychology of Mathematical Ability., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London., 1976.
100.	Milton, G. A.	'The Effects of Sex Role Identification upon Problem Solving Skills" Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology 1957, Vol. 55 pp. 208-212.
101	Normigon A	Schoole and Sectoldered
101	Mcintyre	Penguin Books Ltd., England 1971.

102 Munroe, M. E. The Language of Mathematics. Ann Arbor, Mich: University of Michigan Press, 1963. 103. Nie, N. H. Hull, C.H. SPSS: Statistical Package for the Stein Bremmer, K. & Social Sciences. McGraw-Hill, New Bent, D.H. York: 1975. 104. Nsereko-Gyagenda, T. "An Investigation of Eleven Mental Abilities in Ugandan Children." Ph. D. Thesis, Makerere University 1970. 105 Okatcha, F.M. (Ed.) Modern Psychology and Cultural Adaptation, Swahili Language Consultants and Publishers, Nairobi, 1977. 106. Olander, H.T. & What Pupils Know About Vocabulary Ehmer, C.L. in Mathematics 1930 and 1965. Elementary Schools. 1971 Vol. 71 pp. 361 - 367. 107 Parkar K. D. "The Impact of the Programmed Works on the Quality of Teaching Mathematics in the Secondary Schools of Kenya." M. Ed. 1974 University of Nairobi. 108. Piagets, J. The Child's Conception of Number. Humanities Press, New York, 1952.

109.

The Construction of Reality in the Child. New York; Basic Books, 1954.

202

110.	Plank, E.N. & Plank, R.	"Emotional Components of Arithmetical Learning Autobigrpahies" <u>Psycho-</u> <u>analytic Studies of the Child No. 9</u> , 1954, pp. 272-296.
111.	Poincare, H.	"Mathematical Creation". In B. Ghiselin (Ed.), <u>The Creative Process</u> New York: New American Library, 1952.
112.	Restile, F;a ^{wl}	Mathematical Models in Psychology in Introduction, Penguin Books Ltd., England, 1971.
113.	Retzer, K.A.	"Effects of Precise Verbalization of Discovered Mathematical Generalizations on Transfer, " <u>Final Report</u> . EDRS Acc. No. Ed 040349 Oct. 1969.

In Krutetskii, V.A. The Psychology of Mathematical Ability The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London, 1976.

> A Limited Sex Difference in Spatial Test Scores with Preadolescent Sample Child Development 51(2), 601 - 602, 1980.

> > In Krutetskii, V.A. The Psychology of Mathematical Ability in School Children, The University of of Chicago Press, Chicago and London. 1976.

"Current Research in Mathematics Education", Review of Educatical Research, Vol. 39. No. 4. 1969 pp. 473 - 491.

203

114. Revesz (1952)

115. Richmond, P.G.

116. Rogers (1981)

117. Romberg, T.A.

118	Rowntree, D.	Assessing Students, How Shall We Know Them? Harper and Row Publishers, London, 1977.
119.	Rose, A.W. & Rose, H. C.	"Intelligence, Sibling Position and Socio-Cultural Background as Factors in Arithmetic Performance," <u>Arithmetic Teacher</u> . 1961, Vol, 8, pp. 50 - 56.
120	Sheikh, Omar T.	"Sex Differences: A Study of Some Factors Involved in the Learning of Mathematics among Secondary Form 3 Students in Kenya." M. Ed. 1976, University of Nairobi.
121	Sherman, J.	"Predicting Mathematics Performance in High School Girls and Boys," Journal of Educational Psychology, Vol. 71, No. 2, pp. 242 - 249.
122		"Mathematics, Spatial Visualization and Related Factors: Changes in Girls and Boys, Grades 8 - 11" Journal of Educational Psychology, Vol. 72, No. 4, 1980, pp. 476-482.
123.	Shihundu, J.A.	"An Investigation into Mathematical Concept Development Among Kenyan Primary School Children", M. Ed. Thesis University of Nairobi 1977
		indsis, driversity of Nation, 1977.
124.	Skemp, R. R. 2.	The Psychology- Learning Mathematics, Penguin Books, England Ltd., 1971.
125.	Smith, I.M.	Spatial Ability. London: University of London Press. San Diago, Calf R.R. Knapp, 1964.

Smith, W.R. 126. "The Achievement of Eighth Grade-Students in Arithmetic with Respect to Selected Patterns of Teacher Preparation." Doctor's Thesis. Norman: University of OKland, 1964. 127. Snow, R. E. "Intelligence for the year 2001", Editorial Intelligence, Vol. 4 No. - 1980, pp. 185 - 199.

Somerset, H.C.A. 128. Predicting Success in School Certificate: A Uganda Case Study, Makerere Institute of Social Research, East African Publishing House, 1968.

129. "Who goes to Secondary School? Relevance Reliability and Equity in Secondary School Selection" In Court, D. and Ghai, D.P. Education Society and Development; New Perspectives form Kenya. Nairobi: Oxford University Press, 1974.

130 Stanley, J., Mathematical Talent: Discovery, Keating, D., & Description and Development, Fox, L. Baltimore, Md, John Hopkins Univeristy 1974.

131. Spearman, C. The Abilities of Man, London: Macmillan, 1927.

132. Straker, A. "Identification of Mathematically Gifted Pupils", Mathematics in School Vol. 9, No. 4, 1980.

133 Terman, L.M. & Genetic Studies of Geninus, Associates Stanford University Press, Stanford Calif, 1925.

206

134.	The School Council;	Mathematics in Primary Schools, Curriculum Bulletin No. I Stationery Office, 1969.
135.	Thompson, E.N.	"Readability and Accessory Remarks: Factors in Problem Solving in Arithmetic." Doctor's Thesis Stanford. Standford University 1967.
136.	Treacy, J.P.	The Relationship of Reading Skills to the Ability to Solve Arithmetic Problems. Journal of Educational Research. 1944, Vol. 38, pp. 86 - 96.
137.	Turner, R. L.	Problem Solving Proficiency Among Elementary School Teachers. Cooperative Research Project. Institute of Educational Research, Ind. University 1964.
138.	Vandenberg, S.G.	"Primary Mental Abilities on General Intelligence?
N		Evidence from twin studies" In J. M. Thounday and Parkes (Eds), Genetic and Environmental Influences on Behaviour. New York: Plenum Press, 1968.
139.	Very, P. S.	"Differential Factor Structures in Mathematical Ability", <u>Genetic Psychology Monog</u> raphs, No. 75, 1967, pp. 169 - 207.
140.	Vernon, P. E.	The Structure of Human Abilities (2 eds), London: Methuen, 1961.

141.	Vygotsky, L. S.	Thought and Language, Cambridge, Massachusetts, Mit Press, 1962 pp. 55 - 58.
142.	Wamani, W. T.	"A Study of Mathematical Ability among the Primary School Children in Nyeri, Kenya." M. Ed. Thesis, 1980 University of Nairobi.
143.	Werdelin, I.	The Mathematical Ability: Experimental and Factorial Studies, Lund: Gleerups, 1958.
144.		"A Synthesis of Two-Factor Analysis of Problem Solving",
		<u>Mathematics Didckumentry,</u> No. 8, 1966.
145.		The Geometrical Ability and the Space Factor in Boys and Girls Lund Sweden. University of Lund, 1961.
146.	Westbrook, H.R. et a	al Intellectual Processes Related to Mathematics Achievement at Grade Levels 4, 5 and 6. Cooperative Research Project No. CRP-S-046 University of Ghana, 1965.
147.	Whiting, B. & Whiting, J.	"Task Assignment and Personality: A Consideration of the Effects of Herding on Boys." In Lambert, W. W. and Weissbrod (eds). <u>Comparative Perspective in Social</u> <u>Psychology</u> . Boston: Little Brown, 1971, pp. 33 - 45.
	*	DRIVER UBRARY

Wheatley, C.L. &

148.

Mathematics in School Vol. 8, Wheatley, G.H. No. 1, 1979. 149. Wick, M. E. "Study of the Factors Associated with Success in First Year College Mathematics." Mathematics Teacher, 1965, 58, pp. 642 - 648. 150. Wilson, J. W.; National Longitudinal Study of Cahen, L.S. & Mathematical Ability (NLSMA) Begle, E.G. (Eds) Reports, School Mathematics Study Group, No. 1 Part A -X Population Test Batteries, 1968. 151. Wilson, J.W.; NLSMA Reports (School Mathematics Begle, G.E. (Eds) Group) No. 7, 1969. & Cohen, L. S. 152. Witkin, H. A. "Individual Differences in Ease of Perception of Embedded Figures" Journal of Personality, 1950, 19.., pp. 1 - 15. 153. Wine, J. "Test Anxiety and Direction of Attention. Psychological Bulletin

154. Woolridge, E.T.

155. Wrigley, J.

"Factorial Study of Changes in Ability Patterns of Students in College Algebra." (Doctoral Dissertation, University of Nebraska) Ann Arbor, Mich: University Microfilms, 1964.

Vol. 76, 1971, pp. 92 - 104.

"Developing Spatial Ability".

"Factorial Nature of Ability in Elementary Mathematics", <u>British Journal of Educational</u> P<u>sychology</u>. No. 28, 1958, pp. 67 - 78.